

Rapid Review of Wellbeing Evaluation Research Using the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scales (WEMWBS)

Commissioned by the What Works Centre for Wellbeing

Report prepared by Dr Jo Blodgett, Dr Aradhna Kaushal and Dr Fran Harkness May 2022



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are grateful for the ongoing collaboration, support and advice from Margherita Musella, Nancy Hey, Joanne Smithson at the What Works Centre for Wellbeing (WWCW) and the Advisory Consultation Group:

- Ingrid Abreu-Sherer (National Academy for Social Prescribing)
- Tim Healey (Coventry City Council)
- Gregor Henderson (Independent Consultant and Adviser on Mental Health and Wellbeing)
- Prof. Jonothan Neelands (Warwick University)
- Mark Scott (Coventry City of Culture Trust)
- Dr. Neha Shah (Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, Department of Health and Social Care)
- Lucy Thorpe (Mental Health Foundation)
- Dr. Nick Zygouris (Maximus UK).

This work is funded by the National Lottery Community Fund.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	II
TABLE OF CONTENTS	111
INTRODUCTION	1
METHODOLOGY	2
Eligibility criteria	2
Search strategy	2
Study selection	3
DATA EXTRACTION AND CRITICAL APPRAISAL	3
Synthesis	4
RESULTS	5
Search results	5
Overview	6
CRITICAL APPRAISAL	7
Key findings by subtheme	9
Theme 1: Psychological (n=80)	9
Theme 2: Social interventions (n=54)	13
Theme 3 Art, Culture, Environment (n=29)	16
Theme 4. Physical health promotion (n=18)	18
Theme 5 Other (n=28)	19
DISCUSSION	21
Key findings	21
Strengths and limitations of the review	22
IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH AND PRACTICE	23
Conclusions	25
REFERENCES	26
APPENDICES	40
APPENDIX A: THE WARWICK-EDINBURGH MENTAL WELLBEING SCALES	40
APPENDIX B: POPULATION INTERVENTION CONTROL OUTCOME (PICO) CRITERIA	41
Appendix C: Search strategy	42
Appendix D: Call for Evidence	43
APPENDIX E: WHAT WORKS CENTRE FOR WELLBEING QUALITY CHECKLIST: QUANTITATIVE EVIDENCE OF	:
INTERVENTION EFFECTIVENESS	44
APPENDIX F: INTERVENTION TYPES AND EFFECT ON WELLBEING FOR ALL STUDIES (N=223)	47
APPENDIX G: INTERVENTION TYPES AND EFFECT ON WELLBEING FOR STUDIES WITH CONTROL GROUPS (N	=79)
	48
Appendix H: Study characteristics (n=209)	49
APPENDIX I1: DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES: PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS	50
Appendix I2: Description of studies: Social interventions	58
APPENDIX I3: DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES: ARTS, CULTURE, AND ENVIRONMENT	65
Appendix I4: Description of studies: Physical health promotion	68
APPENDIX I5: DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES: OTHER	70

INTRODUCTION

The Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scales (WEMWBS) define mental wellbeing as the positive aspect of mental health¹. This multidimensional concept of affect and psychological functioning includes both the hedonic perspective, the subjective experience of happiness and life satisfaction, and the eudemonic perspective, which focuses on psychological functioning and self-realisation. ² Building on previous scales, the scales were developed between 2005 and 2010 within UK public mental health settings for use in Sottish population surveys and for the evaluation of projects, programmes and policies that promote positive mental health.¹ The original WEMWBS, validated in 2007, consists of 14 positively worded questions measuring positive mood, interpersonal relationships and positive functioning, with response options asking the user how often they felt that way in the past two weeks.² A shortened version, SWEMWBS, was developed in 2010, which uses 7 of the 14 items and focuses on function-related questions rather than feelings (see Appendix A for complete scales). ³

Fifteen years since their development, the scales are now used in a range of public health and voluntary sector settings and have been adopted across three UK countries to monitor mental wellbeing at the population level and develop policy. There is now a unique opportunity to assess the impact of different interventions on mental wellbeing by reviewing the evaluation literature that uses these scales. By conducting a rapid review, it will be possible to gain a better understanding of the key components that can improve wellbeing, identify evidence gaps, and inform future research and policy. The aim of this project was to conduct a rapid review of interventions to explore the use of WEMWBS and evaluate which interventions are the most effective at increasing wellbeing. Specifically, we aimed to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What evaluation research has been carried out to assess the effectiveness of programmes and pilots on mental wellbeing, as defined by WEMWBS?
- 2. What is the strength of evidence of the evaluation research?
- 3. What are the key findings from the evaluation research?

METHODOLOGY

Systematic reviews are considered the gold standard of evidence-based practice, providing the most rigorous and valid evidence base to inform clinical and policy guidelines and decision making.⁴ However, systematic reviews can be resource, time and cost-heavy and therefore, rapid reviews present a sensible alternative. Rapid reviews are defined as "literature reviews that use methods to accelerate or streamline traditional systematic review processes to meet the needs and timelines of the end-users (e.g. government policymakers, health care institutions, health professionals, and patient associations)".^{5, 6} There are currently no standard methodological guidelines for rapid reviews, with several reviews showing that methods vary across studies.⁷ The Covid-19 pandemic has accelerated work in this area, and where possible, interim guidance published by the Cochrane collaboration has been followed.⁸

This rapid review was conducted over a short timescale (<3 months from search to report), following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines.⁹ The study protocol was registered with PROSPERO (CRD42021288606).¹⁰

Eligibility criteria

Studies from peer-reviewed journals and grey literature sources were eligible for inclusion if they met the PICO (Population, Intervention, Control, and Outcome) criteria described below and outlined in Appendix B. Eligible populations included children and adults with no health or age restrictions. Studies were eligible if wellbeing was measured as a primary or secondary outcome both pre- and post-intervention. The outcome was total WEMWBS score, which could include the full 14-item scale or the 7-item scale. Additional inclusion criteria included the following: English language articles, records with sufficient detail to appraise the quality of the intervention study (e.g. conference abstracts and presentation slides were excluded), interventions taking place in the UK, and published from 2007 to November 2021.

Search strategy

In November 2021, we identified eligible intervention studies via three approaches: a traditional database search, grey literature search and Call for Evidence. Medline, EMBASE, CINAHL, PyschInfo and Web of Science were searched for all available articles from January 2007 to present. Iterative pilot searches were used to identify the most inclusive search strategies and revealed that a broad, inclusive search focusing on WEMWBS terminology was optimal. As many studies and reports did not include phrasing such as "intervention", "evaluation" or "programme", the search terms were not restricted by including them. The final search strategy combined different iterations of the WEMWBS acronym and scale name using truncation and wildcards as appropriate in each database (see Box 1); Appendix C outlines an example of a search strategy.

The same search terms were used to identify additional records in the following grey literature resources: NHS Evidence, Social Science Research Network, King's Fund Library, the Health Foundation, the Mental Health Foundation and Google Advanced Search (first 100 Google records only). Additionally, all research papers on the Warwick Medical School WEMWBS page were screened.¹¹ Finally, the WWCW published a Call for Evidence that was widely shared via their

website, evidence newsletter, social media channels and further distributed by partner members of the wellbeing research community (see Appendix D).

Box 1. Search Strategy

*WEMWBS

OR

"Warwick?Edinburgh Mental Well?being Scale"

Note: "*" denotes truncation to allow for prefixes of differing lengths and "?" denotes wildcard i.e. one character to account for spaces or hyphens. This was adapted if needed across databases

Study selection

Database results were uploaded into Endnote and Rayyan, which were used to remove duplicates and manage the two-stage screening process.¹² In the first stage, 20% of all titles and abstracts were independently screened by two reviewers against the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Any conflicts were discussed to reach a final consensus decision. A single reviewer screened the remaining 80%. In the second stage of screening, two independent reviewers reviewed 20% of the remaining full-text articles, resolved any conflicts and a single reviewer screened the remaining 80%. Additionally, the second reviewer screened all full-text articles excluded by the first reviewer; this step is recommended by Cochrane to ensure that no evidence is missed during the rapid review process.⁸ If needed in either stage, a third reviewer was consulted to make the final decision. In the full-text screening stage, the exclusion reason was documented following a hierarchical list of six criteria:

- i. Non-English article
- ii. Insufficient detail (e.g. conference abstract, incomplete presentation slides)
- iii. No intervention
- iv. Did not use WEMWBS to measure wellbeing
- v. Did not measure WEMWBS pre- and post- intervention
- vi. Intervention based outside of the UK

Data extraction and critical appraisal

A single reviewer independently extracted data. To ensure accuracy and minimise any errors, a second reviewer checked the extracted data against the original document for 20% of papers and re-assessed any critical appraisal scores that were selected 'can't tell' or 'unsure'. A data extraction form was used to extract information on the following topics: record type (e.g. peer-reviewed paper, report), study sample (description, age, control group, randomisation), intervention (description, type, name), WEMWBS scale (7 or 14-item, modifications), WEMWBS scores (sample size, mean, standard deviation pre- and post-intervention for intervention and control groups), whether an economic evaluation was conducted, and critical appraisal of each study.

For studies that reported multiple post-intervention WEMWBS scores, the first post-intervention score was extracted, and it was recorded if additional WEMWBS measures were collected at longer-term follow-up. The WEMWBS scale asks respondents about their wellbeing over the previous two weeks, therefore post-intervention assessments that were captured <2 weeks after baseline were captured as a key limitation for synthesis. Where possible, the next ensuing timepoint (≥2 weeks) was extracted instead. WebPlotDigitizer was used to obtain data that were presented in graphs and not tables.¹³ If there was any missing information about the sample size, mean or standard deviation (SD), authors were contacted to ask for this information.

The What Works Centre for Wellbeing (WWCW) Quality Checklist: quantitative evidence of intervention effectiveness was used to appraise the quality of each included study and give an overall level of confidence in the findings. The framework and scoring system were developed by WWCW academics and the ONS based on the Early Intervention Foundation (EIF) Standards of Evidence¹⁴. The WWCW checklist assesses the quality of a study based on 10 elements: fidelity, measurement, counterfactual, representativeness, sample size, attrition, equivalence, measures, analysis, and interpretation of findings (see Appendix E for further details). The 10 elements of the checklist can be scored as either 1 (yes) or 0 (no, can't tell or N/A). As part of a previous review¹⁵, this scoring system was used to assign each study an overall level of confidence of low (0-2), moderate (3-6) or high (7-10).

Synthesis

A narrative synthesis was first conducted following guidelines established by Popay et al.¹⁶ to describe sample characteristics, intervention types, other components of data extraction and the critical appraisal findings. Next, intervention types were coded thematically and the impact of the interventions on wellbeing was subsequently described by sub-theme. Across all studies, the most commonly reported results for the impact of the intervention on wellbeing were mean WEMWBS scores, SD pre- and post-intervention, with most studies having no control group (described further in results section).

Therefore, random-effects meta-analyses of standardised mean differences (SMD), also referred to as Hedge's g¹⁷, were conducted to examine pre- and post-intervention WEMWBS scores using the *meta* and *metaphor* packages in R. The use of SMD instead of raw mean differences (post score – pre score) allows studies using either the 7-item SWEMWBS or the 14-item SWEMWBS to be combined, thus maximising the evidence base synthesised in this review. Briefly, the SMD is calculated by dividing the mean change in score by the SD of the change score:

$$SMD = \frac{Mean \, WEMWBS \, score_{Post-intervention} - Mean \, WEMWBS \, score_{Pre-intervention}}{Standard \, Deviation_{Pooled}}$$

Where there are at least four studies for a given subtheme, the aggregate SMD effect sizes are reported; 0.20, 0.50 and 0.60 correspond to small, medium and large effect sizes, respectively.^{18, 19}

Heterogeneity in a review refers to any kind of variability amongst studies. Specifically, clinical heterogeneity refers to variability in participants, interventions and outcomes, while methodological heterogeneity refers to variability in study design and risk of bias. Statistical heterogeneity is indicated by high variation in the confidence intervals of the SMD (e.g. individual studies do not

overlap) and is often a consequence of the aforementioned clinical or methodological variability.¹⁷ For each individual meta-analysis, is formally captured with the I² statistic, with >75% indicating considerable statistical heterogeneity.¹⁷

For studies where authors did not respond to requests for additional information or where the information was unavailable, we utilised approaches recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration for dealing with missing data in meta analyses (e.g. SD imputation, medians, ranges, interquartile ranges, etc.).^{17, 20} Due to inconsistencies in sample sizes pre- and post-intervention, group differences instead of individual differences were estimated.

RESULTS

Search results

After initial title-abstract screening (and removing duplicates) of the database search (n=1069), grey literature search (n=319) and Call for Evidence (n=64), the remaining records for the full text search numbered 473. A total of 228 records met all inclusion criteria; the hierarchical exclusion reasons for the other 245 records are provided in Figure 1. It was common to have multiple records that reported identical or duplicate data for the same sample and intervention. Therefore, to avoid duplicate evidence in the review, only the primary record (i.e. the study containing the largest sample size and/or providing most information) was included. Therefore a total of 209 studies were included across five main themes: Psychological (n=80)²¹⁻¹⁰⁰, Social (n=54)¹⁰¹⁻¹⁵⁵, Arts/Culture (n=29)¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁸⁴, Health Promotion (n=18)¹⁸⁵⁻²⁰² and Other (n=28).^{135, 203-229} Any supporting information from these additional records was used to supplement data extraction and synthesis where possible.²³⁰⁻²⁴⁶

Of note, 11 studies presented data for multiple interventions, including one study consisting of three intervention programmes ¹³¹, and two studies presented data for opposing intervention users (i.e. teachers and students⁵⁷; mentors and mentees¹³⁸). The characteristics and subtheme analysis below is conducted at the study level (n=209), however when considering the summary of evidence, it was not appropriate to provide an aggregate score across differing interventions and users. Therefore, a total of 223 data points are used in the summary in Appendix F, with a further summary of control group differences (n=79) in Appendix G.



Figure 1.PRISMA diagram

Overview

Sorted by subtheme, the characteristics of all included studies are described in Appendices I1-I5; this includes sample characteristics, intervention name and description, effect on wellbeing (i.e. difference from pre to post intervention and if the intervention improved wellbeing compared to a control group) and the level of confidence in the results. An overview of the characteristics of included studies is provided in Appendix H. There were 150 peer-reviewed publications, 53 reports and 6 additional records that did not fit under either of these categories.

The majority of studies (n=175) included adults between the ages of 26 and 59, with a third of studies examining younger adults (n=76) and a third examining older adults (n=63). Approximately half of the interventions were delivered to healthy community-dwelling samples and over a third to individuals with mental health difficulties, ranging from those with undiagnosed symptoms of depression or anxiety to in-hospital patients with psychosis. Due to diversity in severity, diagnosis and description of clinical and mental health characteristics amongst studies, a summary count was

not derived and the characteristics for each sample is provided in the Appendices. Baseline sample size ranged from 4 to 4,942, with a total of 53,834 participants across all studies providing some WEMWBS data.

Of the 77 studies that had a control group, 44 studies randomised participants to the intervention or control condition (n=33 individual and 11 cluster). Thirteen studies used a wait-list control group, while 18 did not utilise any randomised nor controlled waitlist protocol. A total of 74 studies with a control group examined either the difference between post-interventions WEMWBS score in the intervention and control groups or the difference in WEMWBS change scores. There were five studies that examined multiple differences (n=2 with two groups; n=3 with multiple intervention), therefore the summary in Appendix G refers to n=79.

Most studies used the 14-item WEMWBS scale (n=145). Just four studies modified the WEMWBS scale; this is discussed in further detail in the critical appraisal section. Finally, 35 studies examined WEMWBS scores by various subgroups (e.g. age, gender, ethnicity), 66 studies assessed wellbeing at additional follow-up points and 38 reported results of an economic evaluation.

Critical appraisal

It was evident that the WWCW checklist (see Appendix E) overestimated the quality of the studies, with just one study scoring low (1%; 0-2 points), 54% scoring as moderate (n=111; 3-6 points) and 46% scoring as high (n=97). Therefore, it is valuable to explore this further by examining individual scale items of the scale and discuss aspects of study quality not captured by the critical appraisal framework. Due largely to the nature of the rapid review, the type of study included and the binary responses of scale times (e.g. yes vs no/can't tell), five of the ten critical appraisal elements were scored positive for >75% of the studies. First, 205 studies (98%) received 1 point for the 'Measures' scale as they used an unmodified WEMWBS scale, which met the criteria for using a measure that was standardised, validated and published independently of the study. The four modifications to the scale included reworded 'wellbeing check cards' targeted at 9-15 year olds¹⁷⁹, simplified language targeted at those with learning disabilities ⁴⁶, a printing error that omitted one item ⁶² and grouping of individual WEMWBS items along with other questions into 3 sections, where improved wellbeing was considered to improve only if respondents had an improved response in all questions in a section¹⁸⁰. Of note, several studies that were excluded during full-text screening used a modified WEMWBS at follow-up; they asked individuals to rate their change on each item from preto post- intervention at a single time point.

Second, 197 studies received 1 point for the 'Consistency'. As studies were eligible for inclusion even if wellbeing improvement was not a primary aim or outcome of the intervention, a positive score on this criterion reflected explicit findings and consistency between results and discussion. Very few studies claimed that an intervention improved wellbeing when it did not. Third, 'Fidelity' was high amongst 193 (92%) of the studies, with just 16 studies failing to clearly describe details of the intervention being delivered. Fourth, the most common analytical approach was consistent with that recommended on the Warwick Medical School website ²⁴⁷: calculating and comparing means and standard deviations using a t-test. Eighty-four percent (n=176) either examined statistical differences in means or presented other appropriate statistical results (e.g. regressions). Finally, the

minimum 'Sample size' criteria required 20 participants to have completed the measures at both time points in each group; this was easily met by most studies (n= 159; 76%).

We now shift to the five elements of the appraisal with a lower distribution of scores. As the majority of studies did not have control groups, scores on 'Counterfactual' (n=57; 27%) and 'Equivalence' (n=52; 25%) were low. Most studies with control groups demonstrated similar characteristics between the control and intervention groups, however studies without a control group often failed to assess if the sample was representative relative to the target population. Therefore, fewer than half of all studies (n=101) received a point for being 'Representative'. Another key area of concern was 'Measurement' as many studies tended to analyse wellbeing scores in those who completed the intervention, ignoring any lost to follow-up. The final element of the critical appraisal checklist was 'Attrition' (n=108, 52%). Although a minimum of 35% completed pre and post-measures in most studies, it was concerning that many studies failed to report drop-out and did not compare characteristics of those who dropped out to those who completed the intervention. It is noteworthy that some studies had very low levels of attrition, including several with 100% completion rates.

There were a few other concerns identified during critical appraisal that are not captured by the scale. First, some studies used WEMWBS to assess interventions lasting fewer than two weeks. The scale asks about how respondents have felt in the past two weeks; therefore it is not a valid measure to capture changes over a shorter period. Some single session interventions (e.g. trishaw ride, dance class, etc.) ^{188, 189} assessed wellbeing immediately before and after the session (<1hr). Another study had individuals fill out WEMWBS questionnaire before and after two sessions of transcranial noise stimulation, which occurred between 2 and 14 days. ²¹³ These studies are therefore not included in the meta-analysis below. Another series of interventions assessed WEMWBS before and after a 5-day multi-activity course, however as scores were also collected at follow-up points beyond two weeks, it was included. ^{193, 196} Another area of concern was the diversity with which studies dealt with missing data. While there is no formal guidance from the developers of the scale, studies often used mean imputation (average score of other items of the scale) with varying criteria on a minimum number of questions that must be answered (e.g. 80%, >5, >12). In the user guide attached to WEMWBS the developers warn that estimates should not be used if more than three items are missing a response; in that case the WEMWBS score should be set as missing.

Key findings by subtheme

Mapping of the interventions revealed 5 main themes of interventions, each with several subthemes. These are listed in Box 2.

Вох	2. Main themes and sub-themes identified
•	Psychological interventions (n=80)
	 Resilience, wellbeing and self- management
	o Mindfulness
	 Psycho- education
	 Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT)
	 Other therapies
•	Social interventions (n=54)
	 Person- centred advice/ support
	 Parenting
	 Community and peer support
	 Social prescribing
•	Arts, culture and environment (n=29)
	o Art
	o Culture
	 Environmental
•	Physical health promotion (n=18)
	 Physical activity
	 Health promotion (diet or mixed)
•	Other (n=28)
	o Funding
	 Targeted medical
	 Professional
	 Long term mental health recovery services

o Other interventions

Appendix F summarises the number of studies which were included in the review, grouped by intervention type, indicating the number of studies where the intervention improved wellbeing as reported by the authors. Appendix G shows the same results but only for studies with a control group. The following section describes each theme and sub-theme in detail and synthesises the main findings across studies.

Theme 1: Psychological (n=80)

Resilience, wellbeing and self-management (n=18)

We identified 18 interventions that aimed to improve participants' resilience, i.e. maintaining/rebuilding wellbeing despite challenges, to improve self-management of wellbeing, or targeted at other specific aspects of wellbeing.²¹⁻³⁸ Of these, 14 tested if wellbeing significantly changed from pre- to post-intervention; 11 found that wellbeing significantly increased ^{21-23, 25-29, 34-} ³⁶, while three found no significant difference ^{33, 37, 38}. Just three studies had a control group, all of

which reported that there was no difference in wellbeing changes at follow-up between control and intervention groups ^{25, 37, 38}.

Fifteen studies were included in the meta-analysis examining standardised mean differences pre and post-intervention (see Figure 2), demonstrating a large impact of these intervention on wellbeing (SMD= 0.72; large effect size). The two largest improvements in wellbeing were shown in the Reconnect to Innate Resilience course, consisting of six 90 minute online 1:1 guided sessions to improve and educate about resilience ²¹, and a peer-facilitated four-week program in prisons focused on positive thinking, goal setting, managing wellbeing and behaviour, and developing a personal 'toolbox'. ²⁸

Reference	Pr N	e-interve Mean(s)	ntion SD	Pos N	st-interve Mean(s)	ntion SD	Standardised Mean Difference 95	5% CI
Croft, 2021 ²¹	13	20.50	2.70	13	26.20	2.20	2.24 [1.23	; 3.26]
Mental Health Foundation, 2017 ²⁸	50	37.46	8.66	50	51.18	8.66	1.57 [1.12	; 2.02]
Martin et al., 2019 ²⁶	137	38.80	8.48	108	49.90	8.29	1.32 [1.04	; 1.60]
Kelley et al., 2018 ²⁵	75	22.98	5.60	53	28.58	4.06	1.11 [0.73	; 1.49]
Martin et al., 2020 ²⁷	51	42.20	9.30	51	49.90	7.50	0.90 [0.50	; 1.31]
Papadatou-Pastou et al., 2019 ³¹	13	46.00	9.30	7	54.40	8.50	0.89 [-0.08	; 1.86]
Elston et al., 2019 ²²	86	38.80	10.30	86	46.70	10.90	0.74 [0.43	; 1.05]
Pratt et al., 2013 ³²	47	42.70	8.66	40	47.40	8.66	0.54 [0.11	; 0.97]
Millar & Donnelly, 2013 ²⁹	109	40.98	12.35	49	46.02	10.07	0.43 [0.09	; 0.77]
Wright et al., 2021 ³⁸	13	44.90	10.10	13	49.50	12.70	0.39 [-0.39	; 1.17]
Inglis, 2013 ²⁴	15	43.82	8.78	15	47.09	10.86	0.32 [-0.40	; 1.04]
Rich et al., 2020 ³³	18	46.67	7.41	18	49.00	6.80	0.32 [-0.34	; 0.98]
The Health Foundation, 2017 ³⁶	203	48.55	8.88	203	50.84	8.88	0.26 [0.06	; 0.45]
Wild et al., 2020 ³⁷	314	48.57	8.90	256	50.69	9.36	0.23 [0.07	; 0.40]
lemmi et al., 2015 ²³	87	43.09	10.79	61	45.13	12.56	0.18 [-0.15	; 0.50]
Overall effect Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 86\%$, $p < 0$.	01					Г	0.72 [0.42;	1.02]
						-1	1 0 1 2 3	
							Intervention improved well-being	

Figure 2. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 1: Resilience, wellbeing and self-management interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Mindfulness (n=16)

Sixteen studies of mindfulness interventions were identified, including two studies which reported each two different interventions.³⁹⁻⁵⁴ Of the 18 interventions, 12 reported that wellbeing significantly increased in the intervention group from pre to post- intervention ^{13, 39-42, 44, 50-54}, three did not find a statistically significant difference^{46, 47, 49} and three did not test the change. ^{43, 45, 48}

Half of the studies considered a control group, of which four reported that the intervention improved wellbeing in the intervention compared to control^{40, 43, 45, 52}, three reported no statistically significant difference between the intervention and control groups^{39, 47, 48} and one did not formally assess differences between groups.⁴¹ The meta-analysis (n=13 interventions) suggested that mindfulness improved wellbeing with a medium to large effect size (SMD: 0.52 (95% CI: 0.33, 0.72)). The three interventions that improved wellbeing the most were longer mindfulness courses or programmes, consisting of 5 to 8 weekly sessions lasting up to 2.5 hours per session.^{50, 52, 54}



Figure 3. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 1: Mindfulness interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Psychoeducation (n=9)

Nine studies examined psychoeducation interventions across various settings ⁵⁵⁻⁶³, with the majority reporting that the intervention improved WEMWBS score (n=7). ^{55, 56, 58-60, 62, 63} However, only two studies had a control group, both of which indicated that there was no impact of the intervention when compared to a control group.^{55, 57} All studies were included in the meta-analysis, which revealed a similar medium effect size to mindfulness (SMD: 0.52 (0.17, 0.87)). Although not formally tested in the paper, Kidger et al.⁵⁷ found that the mental health education intervention had a negative effect on the teachers it was delivered to and did not improve wellbeing in their students. Similar to mindfulness, the most impactful interventions were those that delivered psychoeducation over longer periods of time (5 to 20 sessions).^{55, 56, 62}

FReference	Pre-inte N	ervention Mean(s)	SD	Pos N	st-interve Mean(s)	ntion SD	Standa Mean Difi	ardised ference	95% CI
Bateman & Fonagy, 2019 ⁵⁵	29	42.86	1.48	29	45.02	1.97		1.22	[0.66; 1.79]
Spandler et al., 2013 ⁶²	102	35.00	9.50	102	45.00	7.70		1.15	[0.86; 1.45]
Chiocchi et al., 2019 ⁵⁶	60	40.83	9.77	60	49.42	9.45		0.89	[0.51; 1.26]
Mirea et al., 2021 ⁵⁹	1105	35.24	8.11	1105	41.19	10.59	-	0.63	[0.55; 0.72]
Thompson et al., 2016 ⁶³	11	29.18	7.07	11	33.55	10.28		0.48	[-0.37; 1.33]
Perry et al., 2018 ⁶⁰	33	54.73	7.85	33	58.06	7.34	+ -	0.43	[-0.06; 0.92]
McCoy et al., ⁵⁸	14	19.40	8.66	14	23.20	8.66		0.43	[-0.32; 1.18]
Smallwood et al., 2017 ⁶¹	23	45.30	10.60	9	48.30	13.20		0.26	[-0.52; 1.03]
Kidger et al., 2019 (students)	⁵⁷ 806	46.80	8.60	806	47.40	9.40	😑 🗄	0.07	[-0.03; 0.16]
Kidger et al., 2019 (teachers)	⁵⁷ 1278	47.50	9.00	1278	45.00	10.00	-	-0.26	[-0.34; -0.18]
Overall effect Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 97\%$, p	0 < 0.01					۲ -1	0 1 2 3	0.52	[0.17; 0.87]

Figure 4. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 1: Psychoeducation interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

<u>Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) n=18</u>

Eighteen studies assessed CBT interventions⁶⁴⁻⁸¹, with half reporting that wellbeing significantly improved after the intervention ^{64, 66, 68, 70, 73, 75, 76, 80, 81}, two reporting no statistically significant change ^{71, 77} and the remaining failed to analytically assess any change. ^{65, 67, 69, 72, 74, 78, 79} Control groups were present in 11 of the 18 studies. Eight found evidence that the intervention improved wellbeing compared to the control group ^{66-70, 72, 76, 77}, while only two reported no effect. ^{74, 78} Of note, just one of four sleep-focused CBT interventions formally tested, and demonstrated, a positive effect of sleep CBT on wellbeing both over time and compared to a control group.⁶⁸ The meta-analysis of 17 of the 18 CBT studies demonstrated a medium to strong effect of CBT on wellbeing (SMD: 0.58 (0.42, 0.75)). Of note, a 6-session individual CBT programme for patients with persistent persecutory delusions yielded the largest improvement in wellbeing⁷⁰.



Figure 5. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 1: Cognitive behavioural therapy interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Other therapies (n=15) + Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (n=4)

We identified 19 studies of other therapy interventions. ⁸²⁻¹⁰⁰ These included Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (n=4)^{84, 92, 93, 96}, counselling (n=4) ^{85, 86, 94, 95}, pet therapy (n=2) ^{88, 90}, solution-focus brief therapy (n=2) ^{97, 98} amongst other specific or group-based therapies. ^{82, 83, 89, 91, 99, 100} The majority of these studies reported that wellbeing significantly increased from pre to post intervention.^{83, 85-91, 94, 99} Nine studies compared changes in WEMWBS scores between the intervention and a control group.^{86, 90, 93, 95-99} One pet therapy intervention⁹⁰ and one counselling intervention ⁹⁶ significantly improved wellbeing compared to a control group. The remaining six did not find a statistically significant difference in wellbeing between the intervention and control groups. ^{93, 95, 97-99} Due to heterogeneity amongst therapy types in this section, an overall effect size was not obtained. However, for the 17 studies with available data, individual SMDs are provided in Figure 6, showing mixed evidence for Acceptance and Commitment Therapy and consistently positive evidence for counselling.



Figure 6. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 1: Other therapies and Acceptance and commitment therapy interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Theme 2: Social interventions (n=54)

Person-centred advice/support (n=18)

A total of 18 studies evaluated 20 different person-centred advice or support interventions.¹⁰¹⁻¹¹⁸ Results were mixed, with a third (n=7 interventions) found that the person-centred advice or support had a positive impact on wellbeing ^{101, 102, 106, 110, 116, 117}, a third (n=6) found no significant difference^{103,} ^{107-109, 115} and the remaining third (n=7) did not test pre-post differences.^{104, 105, 111-114, 118} Opposing effects on wellbeing may be partially explained by differences in how the interventions were designed and delivered. Similar to 'other therapies' in the psychological interventions theme, it was deemed inappropriate to estimate an aggregate SMD due to intervention differences (see detail described in Appendix I2), although it was clear that person-centred advice or support interventions had a medium to large impact on wellbeing (Figure 7).

No study reported that wellbeing improved in those receiving person-centred advice or support when compared to a control group.^{103, 105, 107, 112-114, 118} However, two interventions reported close to a 100% increase in WEMWBS scores. One was a peer-led service providing advice on welfare benefits and health advocacy ¹¹⁶, and the other was an intensive advice service delivered by Citizens Advice over 2-months to 2-years.¹⁰⁶



Figure 7. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 2: Person-centred advice/support interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Parenting (n=18)

We identified 16 studies of parenting programme interventions ¹¹⁹⁻¹³⁴, including three separate parenting programmes described in a single study.¹³¹ Eight of the 18 parenting interventions improved the wellbeing of parents from baseline to post-intervention, while three reported no impact.^{121-123, 125-128, 132} No intervention measured wellbeing in children. Of the six studies that compared wellbeing changes in those receiving the parenting intervention and those who didn't, only the Incredible Years Toddler Parenting Programme demonstrated a positive impact.¹²⁸ The SMD in the parenting education meta-analysis indicated a medium effect size (SMD: 0.53 (0.38, 0.68)).

Reference	Pi N	re-interve Mean(s)	ntion SD	Po: N	st-interve Mean(s)	ention SD		Standardised Mean Difference	95% CI
Lindsay, et al., 2011 ¹³¹	237	42.90	10.30	237	51.80	10.00	÷ 	0.88	[0.69; 1.06]
Bjornstad et al., 2021 ¹¹⁹	47	40.20	7.70	44	46.40	7.00		0.83	[0.40; 1.26]
as above ¹³¹	487	42.40	9.70	487	50.10	9.30		0.81	[0.68; 0.94]
Gray et al., 2018 ¹²⁶	4942	45.51	10.77	2823	53.71	9.22	+	0.80	[0.75; 0.85]
Cullen et al., 2013 ¹²²	4231	43.50	10.70	4231	51.30	9.60	+	0.77	[0.72; 0.81]
Borek et al., 2017 ¹²⁰	7	39.00	6.80	6	44.90	8.70		0.71	[-0.43; 1.85]
Fisher & Gingell,2016 ¹²⁵	39	42.00	8.00	39	48.00	10.00		0.66	[0.20; 1.11]
Fisher & Burchett, 2019 ¹²⁴	38	39.81	8.66	38	45.41	8.66		0.64	[0.18; 1.10]
Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport, 2019 ¹²³	348	20.50	3.50	348	22.80	3.80		0.63	[0.48; 0.78]
Knibbs et al., 2016 ¹³⁰	33	51.24	10.64	28	56.84	6.86		0.61	[0.09; 1.12]
as above ¹³¹	347	45.30	11.20	347	50.60	11.20		0.47	[0.32; 0.62]
Bradley et al., 2020 ¹²¹	13	50.14	12.34	13	54.50	9.44		0.38	[-0.39; 1.16]
Lindsay & Totsika, 2017 ¹³²	656	48.39	8.95	656	51.00	8.28		0.30	[0.19; 0.41]
Robertson et al., 2016 ¹³³	56	47.86	8.87	45	50.00	8.43		0.24	[-0.15; 0.64]
Hutchings et al., 2017 ¹²⁸	60	47.88	10.15	60	50.72	14.72		0.22	[-0.14; 0.58]
Simkiss et al., 2013 ¹³⁴	117	39.85	9.88	117	42.11	10.71	+	0.22	[-0.04; 0.48]
Harwood et al., 2021 ¹²⁷	88	48.10	8.60	88	54.20	69.00		0.12	[-0.17; 0.42]
Jones et al., 2016 ¹²⁹	54	55.00	7.61	39	53.18	8.66		-0.22	[-0.64; 0.19]
Overall effect Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 89\%$, $p < 0.01$						ſ	◆	0.53	[0.38; 0.68]
						-*	1 0 1	2 3	
							Interventior	n improved well-being	

Figure 8. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 2: Parenting interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

There were also two studies of a whole-family intervention focused on reducing domestic abuse and supporting survivors, children and perpetrators ^{135, 136}, with one additional funding-level program described on page 17 (Theme 5: Other). ²⁰⁹ The tri-intervention Opening Closed Doors program found an aggregate improvement in wellbeing for female parents/carers (Integrated Women's Support programme) and male parents/carers (Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Programme). ¹³⁶ However, there was no control group for comparison. Wellbeing in children attending the third program was not assessed. There was no impact of either of the other two programs (the SafeLives program¹³⁵ and Troubled Families comparison²⁰⁹).

Community and peer-support interventions (n=12)

There were seven peer support interventions targeting diverse age groups including two in schoolaged children ^{137, 138}, one in university students ¹³⁹, two in older adults ^{140, 141} and two for a wider adult demographic. ^{142, 143} Just one intervention, for children affected by parental separation and/or conflict, reported improved wellbeing in attendees (not reported in meta-analysis) ¹³⁷, however an 8-week peer-support program in PhD students also had a strong effect¹³⁹, although this was not formally tested in the paper. There was no overall improvement in wellbeing in those taking part in peer support interventions (SMD: 0.18 (-0.16, 0.52); no effect). Of three studies that compared the intervention group to a control, one found no difference in wellbeing¹⁴² and the other two did not formally assess changes.^{138, 143}

Three of five community interventions, that brought individuals together for social or volunteering activities, demonstrated that participants improved their wellbeing after participating in activities ¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁶; the other two did not formally assess change in wellbeing^{147, 148} and none of the five had a control group. There was evidence of a small effect size (SMD: 0.17 (0.06, 0.29)).

	Pr	e-interve	ntion	Pos	st-interve	ntion					Standa	rdised	
Reference	Ν	Mean(s)	SD	Ν	Mean(s)	SD					Mean Diffe	erence	95% CI
Type = Community													
The Health Foundation, 2015 ¹⁴⁶	45	42.00	12.38	31	46.52	11.14		•	_			0.38	[-0.09; 0.84]
Moreton et al., 2018 ¹⁴⁸	434	21.10	8.66	434	23.20	8.66						0.24	[0.11; 0.38]
Jones et al., 2015 ¹⁴⁵	93	24.06	4.31	93	24.96	3.16		-				0.24	[-0.05; 0.53]
Jones et al., 2021 ¹⁴⁴	865	21.10	8.66	865	22.18	8.66		+				0.12	[0.03; 0.22]
Overall effect								•				0.17	[0.06; 0.29]
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\%$, $p = 0.40$													
Type = Peer support													
Panayidou et al., 2020 ¹³⁹	44	40.10	8.66	43	48.60	8.66		-				0.97	[0.53; 1.42]
Chakkalackal & Kalathil, 2014 ¹⁴¹	21	22.00	4.48	14	23.00	5.78						0.19	[-0.48; 0.87]
Marshall et al., 2020 ¹⁴²	28	52.52	9.67	28	54.32	13.46						0.15	[-0.37; 0.68]
Panayiotou et al., 2020 (mentors) ¹³⁸	62	26.32	3.81	62	26.75	4.66	_	-				0.10	[-0.25; 0.45]
Mental Health Foundation, no year ¹⁴⁰	13	21.52	8.66	13	21.84	8.66		•	_			0.04	[-0.73; 0.80]
Get Set to Go Research Consortium, 2017 ¹⁴³	724	41.30	12.46	83	40.74	10.22	-	-				-0.05	[-0.27; 0.18]
Panayiotou et al., 2020 (mentees) ¹³⁸	55	25.60	5.58	55	25.13	5.69		-				-0.08	[-0.46; 0.29]
Overall effect							-					0.18	[-0.16; 0.52]
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 65\%$, $p < 0.01$													
						-	-1	0	1	2	3		
								Inter	vention	improve	ed well-being		



Social prescribing (n=7)

Finally, seven studies described social prescribing interventions.¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵⁵ These often overlapped with art-based interventions, but only the interventions which involved formal prescribing of social

activities are summarised here. Four studies reported that social prescribing improved wellbeing ¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵⁴, one found there was no effect on wellbeing ¹⁴⁹ and two did not test for differences.^{104, 150} No study contained a control group. There was a medium to high effect of social prescribing on wellbeing (SMD: 0.55 (0.45, 0.64)). Effect sizes were similar across all five studies in the metaanalysis, as indicated by complete overlapping of confidence intervals and the lack of statistical heterogeneity (0%; p=0.91).



Figure 10. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 2: Social prescribing interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Theme 3 Art, Culture, Environment (n=29)

<u>Art (n=19)</u>

Nineteen studies evaluated art interventions, which included activities such as singing, music lessons, textiles, painting, drama classes, photography, fictional audiobooks and stand-up comedy. ¹⁵⁶⁻¹⁷⁴ It was evident that art had a strong impact on wellbeing with significant improvements pre to post in more than three quarters (n=15) of the studies. Interventions that did not have a positive effect on wellbeing included stand-up comedy, listening to fictional audiobooks and a series of mixed visual arts classes. ^{156, 165, 168} Three of five studies reported that the intervention improved wellbeing as compared to a control group; these were all long-term interventions consisting of 10-12 weeks of weekly choir, drumming, and a different set of mixed visual art sessions. ^{162, 163, 166} The meta-analysis revealed a strong effect size (SMD: 0.62 (0.45, 0.79)).



Figure 11. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 3: Art interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Culture (n=3)

Three intervention studies consisted of culturally focused activities ¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁷. One intervention was targeted towards young African-Caribbean men in Birmingham to enable them to explore their culture and heritage and found that wellbeing increased after participation in workshops and activities. ¹⁷⁵ The other two studies, one of which targeted adults with long-term mental health conditions to explore prehistoric landscapes ¹⁷⁶ and one consisting of a programme of activities that encouraged local residents to explore local arts and culture¹⁷⁷, did not formally assess if the interventions improved wellbeing. None of these three studies had a control group.

Environmental (n=7)

Seven studies evaluated interventions that aimed to improve the local environment¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁴, none of which included a control group for comparison. Five studies considered if wellbeing changed over the course of the intervention, with only two reporting a significant increase. ^{182, 183} There was no overall effect (SMD: -0.05 (-0.14, 0.05)), although this was driven by a large urban regeneration study (n=1398 at baseline), which found no change in wellbeing.¹⁸¹ Notably, statistical heterogeneity was low as all confidence intervals overlapped (0%; p=0.45).





Theme 4. Physical health promotion (n=18)

Physical activity (n=14)

There were 14 physical activity intervention studies¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁹⁸, with the majority (n=10) reporting that wellbeing increased from pre- to post-intervention. ^{185, 187-190, 194-196, 198} Two of these were studies that assessed scores before and after <1hr interventions ^{188, 189}, and therefore are not included in further synthesis. Only one intervention, a football-based exercise program, did not improve wellbeing. ¹⁹¹ Three studies did not test if wellbeing changed. ^{186, 192, 197} Interestingly, the study with the largest effect size was also a football-based exercise program, with mixed exercises developed at Prenton Park, the home ground of Tranmere Rovers FC. ¹⁹⁴ Of the four studies that compared the physical activity intervention to a control group, two reported improvement in the intervention group against the control ^{192, 197}, one did not find any effect ¹⁸⁵, and one did not test differences.¹⁸⁶ The meta-analysis indicated that physical activity interventions had a moderate effect on wellbeing (SMD: 0.38 (0.14, 0.61)).



Figure 13. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 4: Physical activity interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Health promotion (diet or mixed) (n=4)

There were four studies of health promotion interventions; two focused on alcohol screening and education in adolescents ^{199, 200}, one on exercise and diet workshops ²⁰¹, and one was multidisciplinary, supporting participants to achieve a healthy lifestyle with a focus on alcohol use, smoking, diet and physical activity. ²⁰² The joint exercise-diet intervention had a positive impact on wellbeing over time ²⁰¹, while alcohol education did not improve wellbeing compared to a group who did not receive the information. ²⁰⁰ The remaining studies did not test change in wellbeing over time or between control and intervention groups. Four national-level health promotion interventions are described further under the funding section below. ^{203, 204 205, 206}

Theme 5 Other (n=28)

Interventions that did not clearly fit into one of the four main themes are described below. This includes: funding (n=7), targeted medical interventions (n=7), recovery colleges (n=5), professional training (n=4) and other (n=5).

Funding (n=7)

We identified seven large scale funding programmes for a range of projects: a healthier lifestyles and community wellbeing programme ^{203, 204}, programmes targeted towards improving older adults' physical activity and diet ^{205, 206}, youth services ^{207, 208}, and a Troubled Families programme.²⁰⁹ Three of the latter four health promotion funding programmes had a positive impact on wellbeing ^{203, 205, 206}, although none compared effects compared to a control group. There was no change in wellbeing in those participating in funded Troubled Families programmes, with no control group for further comparison.²⁰⁹ Finally, funding from the Youth Investment Fund providing frontline, open access youth services, demonstrated a positive effect on wellbeing²⁰⁷, while a peer-support funding program in nearly 100 schools showed no impact. ²⁰⁸ Interpretation of differences across schemes should be done with caution, due both to substantial between-scheme differences as well as within-scheme (e.g. each funding programme covers tens to hundreds of locally delivered projects). Consistent with other subthemes, no meta-analysis was conducted but individual effect sizes are shown below.



Figure 14. Forest plot indicating change in WEMWBS score from pre to post intervention for Theme 5: Funding interventions. Change indicated by standardised mean difference.

Targeted medical (n=7)

We identified seven studies with specific medical interventions that measured change in wellbeing as a secondary outcome.²¹⁰⁻²¹⁶ These interventions aimed to: improve vision function ²¹⁰; improve physical functioning in infants who had perinatal stroke or unilateral haemorrhagic parenchymal infarction²¹¹; reduce anxiety using pharmaceutical interventions²¹²; understand the impact of transcranial random noise simulation on physical and mental health outcomes²¹³; lower cardiovascular disease risk in patients with severe mental illness ²¹⁴; provide earlier access to hearing dogs in people with hearing loss ²¹⁶; and improve memory in adults with schizophrenia and a mild level of depression. ²¹⁵ Five studies found no difference in wellbeing after the medical intervention. However, augmentation of Celecoxib (typically used to treat pain) did improve wellbeing after 6-weeks in those with an anxiety disorder. ²¹² Additionally, individuals with hearing loss who received immediate access to a hearing dog also improve their wellbeing compared to a control group who waited the usual time (6-36 months). ²¹⁶

Professional (n=4)

Four studies evaluated interventions that delivered training to healthcare practitioners ^{217, 218}, healthcare managers and employees²¹⁹, and frontline domestic and violent abuse practitioners.¹³⁵ All four studies considered if wellbeing significantly changed from pre- to post-intervention; one found wellbeing significantly improved ²¹⁸ and the remaining three studies found no significant difference.^{135, 217, 219} Two of these studies also compared the interventions against a control group although neither found a significant difference.^{217, 219} Notably, the intervention that delivered training to frontline domestic and violent abuse took place alongside the SafeLives intervention delivered to families of domestic abuse, which also had reported no significant effect (see section page 13 on parenting and families).

Long-term mental health recovery services (n=5)

Five studies investigated if attending recovery colleges or personalised mental health residential services improved wellbeing, although none of these had a control group.²²⁰⁻²²⁴ Recovery colleges are online or community-based centres typically aiming to equip mental health service users with the tools and techniques to manage their own wellbeing. Harrison et al.²²² included data from four different recovery colleges, while Lamb et al. investigated wellbeing change in acute day units and in crisis resource teams across four trusts ²²³; however neither study formally assessed if wellbeing improved. Data from the other three studies indicated that the services had a positive impact on wellbeing. ^{220, 221, 224}

Other (n=5)

This final section describes five unique interventions. Naruse et al.²²⁵ showed that 3 consecutive weekly couples massage classes improved wellbeing from start to end, although it was not different when compared to a control group. Adding to the minimal evidence on CBT sleep interventions (see page 10), a sleep education and behavioural programme delivered to parents of children with sleep problems had a positive impact on parental wellbeing.²²⁶ A unique co-design intervention that allowed employee teams to create and test solutions for their workspaces improved wellbeing from pre to post and compared to those who were not involved. ²²⁷ Finally, wellbeing did not change when social media use was restricted over a 9 week period for university students²²⁸, nor when patients with dementia were provided with small-scale aids and home adaptations. ²²⁹

DISCUSSION

Key findings

In this comprehensive rapid review of traditional databases, grey literature and a Call for Evidence, we identified 228 records (209 unique studies) that used the WEMWBS to assess how different interventions improved wellbeing. Based on a priori knowledge, mapping exercises and consultation with experts, five key intervention themes emerged: Psychological (n=80); Social (n=54); Art, culture and environment (n=29); Health Promotion (n=18); and Other (n=28). Evidence was synthesised across nineteen subthemes and individual study details are provided in Appendices 11-15.

The meta-analyses examining change in WEWMBS score from pre to post intervention maximised the number of studies which could be included (n=188; 84%) and therefore provides the best assessment of what worked to improve wellbeing. Where >0.60 indicates a large effect size, >0.50 indicates a medium effect size and >0.20 indicates a small effect size, it was evident that interventions based on building emotional resilience, focusing on personal wellbeing and learning self-management techniques had the greatest impact on wellbeing (n=15 of 18 studies). Other interventions with medium to large effects included those related to art and social or psychological aspects. There was no evidence to suggest that peer-support or environmental interventions altered wellbeing and there was insufficient evidence from the remaining subthemes to make other conclusions. However, there was a general trend that counselling, large-scale funding interventions and recovery colleges each improved wellbeing. Finally, the impact of person-centred support and advice interventions appeared large, but a single SMD could not be estimated due to substantial differences in intervention design, delivery and target demographic. Effect sizes of all meta-analyses are presented in Table 1.

Theme	Intervention subtheme	SMD (95% confidence intervals)
Psychological	Resilience, wellbeing and self-management	0.72 (0.42, 1.02)
Arts, Culture & Environment	Art	0.62 (0.45, 0.79)
Social	Person-centred support and advice	0.58 (0.14, 1.02)
Psychological	CBT	0.58 (0.42, 0.75)
Social	Social prescribing	0.55 (0.45, 0.64)
Social	Parenting	0.53 (0.38, 0.68)
Psychological	Psychoeducation	0.52 (0.17, 0.87)
Psychological	Mindfulness	0.51 (0.33, 0.72)
Physical health promotion	Physical activity	0.38 (0.14, 0.61)
Sacial	Peer-support	0.18 (-0.16, 0.52)
300141	Community-based	0.17 (0.06, 0.29
Arts, Culture & Environment	Environment	-0.05 (-0.14, 0.05)

Table 1.	Summary	of overal	l standardised	mean	difference	(SMD) k	ov interven [.]	tion type
						(

There was substantial clinical and methodological heterogeneity across studies, including differences in sample characteristics, baseline WEMWBS scores, frequency and duration of

interventions and primary aims of interventions. Despite the use of a random-effects meta-analysis to partially account for this, the l² statistic indicated high statistically heterogeneity for nearly all subthemes (resulting from variation between study estimates and confidence intervals). Due to the breadth of studies captured in this review, it is unsurprising that single interventions had substantially larger impacts than others on wellbeing. For example, larger improvements in wellbeing were commonly observed in studies with longer interventions (e.g. weekly sessions for 6-12 weeks) compared to single sessions. Due to differences in design and delivery of each intervention, the overall SMD in each meta-analysis must be interpreted with caution. While the SMD provide an overall indication of what type of interventions work, further investigation into the components of successful intervention (e.g. target demographic, setting, length, frequency and duration) is needed.

The WWCW Quality Checklist: quantitative evidence of intervention effectiveness suggested that there was moderate to high quality of evidence across included studies. However, as described above, the checklist is likely to have overestimated the quality of the studies. The key limitation of the evidence base was the lack of control groups, which are crucial for assessing if the intervention worked. Only 77 of 208 studies examined a control group, with just over half of these using randomisation to allocate individuals to condition. The lack of control groups shifts the summary of evidence substantially (see Appendix F & G). For example, interventions on resilience, wellbeing and self-management appeared to have the largest positive impact on wellbeing when considering pre and post scores in the intervention group for all studies (see Table 1), however no study found evidence supporting the intervention in comparison to the control group (n=3 null associations; n=0 positive). Other subthemes that had strong evidence of improved wellbeing from pre to post but little to no evidence when compared to a control group included: psychoeducation, person-centred support and advice, community and peer support, social prescribing.

Strengths and limitations of the review

This rapid review followed a rigorous registered protocol and was conducted at pace over a short period of time providing a comprehensive synthesis of intervention studies that used WEMWBS. The simple and inclusive search strategy maximised the identification of relevant records. To reduce publication bias, grey literature sources were searched, and a successful Call for Evidence increased the pool of evidence. By contacting authors, the amount of missing data was reduced and therefore more studies could be included in the meta-analyses. Finally, we followed recent guidance from the Cochrane collaboration to conduct the rapid review process.⁸ Double screening of all full-text articles excluded by the first reviewer ensured that no studies were inadvertently omitted from the review.

However, there are several limitations that must be acknowledged in relation to the rapid review methodology. First, only English-language UK-based studies were included, and records with insufficient study detail (e.g. conference abstracts, and presentation slides) were excluded. Second, a single reviewer screened and extracted most of the data, although quality assurance processes were in place to reduce errors. While grey literature sources were extensively searched and the Call for Evidence extended across diverse networks, we were unable to access data on registered users

of WEMWBS from Warwick Medical School. An early evaluation of the responsiveness of the WEMWBS scale in 2012 analysed pre and post- data from twelve registered interventions, each of which would have met the criteria for inclusion in this review.²⁴⁸ In the decade since, this list is expected to have grown substantially.

The analysis in this review was limited to the most commonly reported statistics (e.g. mean difference). Therefore, we did not conduct a meta-analysis of the mean change difference between control and intervention group, nor a meta-regression of those studies that provided model estimates. For intervention studies, analysis of differences in mean change score between two groups is preferred over pre-post comparisons in a single group. The rudimentary data available in most studies meant that there were insufficient studies to assess either of these analyses. Furthermore, we did not investigate how associations between interventions and wellbeing differed by participant characteristics (age, gender, ethnicity, mental health status etc.) or changed across different lengths of follow-up. Due to the high number of studies included in this review, interventions were coded into a single theme for simplicity of reporting and to aid interpretation, although there is clearly overlap between themes and interventions. Finally, although analysis of economic data was provided in 38 studies and across 15 of the 19 subthemes (most commonly in person-centred information or support interventions; n=7), it was outside of the scope of this review.

Implications for research and practice

This review provides a broad overview of mental wellbeing interventions conducted over the past 15 years in the UK and highlights several avenues for future research. It is evident that many different intervention types can improve mental wellbeing. The positive impact of nearly all intervention types suggest that a wide range of interventions to improve wellbeing should be supported; this has practical implications as intervention facilitators may have different resources available (e.g. infrastructure, time, finances) or may target dissimilar topics, settings or participants.

However, further research is needed to investigate the mechanisms by which each intervention may be acting upon mental wellbeing. For example, it is not clear if it is the subject of the intervention (e.g. learning resilience techniques, or improving sleep) or the mode of delivery which is effective at improving wellbeing (e.g. frequency, duration, group-based or one to one). The latter was not systematically extracted in this review, however, appears to vary greatly between studies. For example, some interventions are delivered a one-to-one basis whereas others are conducted in groups, some are private and accessible via fee-based models, whereas others are charity funded and free to access. Further differences in the length of courses and individual sessions, in addition to the type of engagement taking place, i.e. whether participants were 'learning', 'talking', or 'doing' are all likely to be active ingredients in the intervention.

If heterogeneity in intervention type can be limited, potentially by narrowing the focus of future reviews, further identification of the components of a successful intervention is feasible. For example, there was consistent evidence that peer-centred support and advice interventions had a positive impact on mental wellbeing, but there was too much heterogeneity to synthesise results. Specifically, these interventions often targeted vulnerable but diverse groups (e.g. older adults, those in insecure housing, those with mental health diagnoses, survivors of human trafficking) with

substantial variation in intervention intensiveness (e.g. single interaction, 2-8 sessions, ongoing support for weeks/months/years). A future review focused on these interventions, not limited to WEMWBS, could improve understanding in this area. Other recommendations for future reviews on improving mental wellbeing include social prescribing, community or peer support, culture or environment and funding-level interventions. Within this review, there was positive evidence for each of these themes, however conclusive findings were limited by the small number of studies measuring WEMWBS, the lack of control groups and the high levels of heterogeneity.

To ensure that the most beneficial intervention is used for a particular group of people, future work could examine how wellbeing intervention effects differ by participant characteristics. Only 35 studies in this review examined WEMWBS scores stratified by participant characteristics (e.g. gender, age, etc.). Investigating whether wellbeing interventions differ in impact for different groups could help reduce health inequities by understanding which interventions are most inclusive, which are particularly effective for more vulnerable groups of people, and whether some interventions have effects only for those who have high levels of wellbeing. Additionally, it was not common for studies to investigate whether their sample was representative of the target population. This simple step would greatly progress knowledge about what interventions work and for whom.

Future work should assess how long the effects of wellbeing interventions appear to last. This understanding could have implications for how often the intervention needs to be conducted, or what types of interventions can sustain wellbeing over a longer period. Evaluations of wellbeing interventions would be enhanced by studies with repeated follow up periods, followed by a review capturing differences in wellbeing across different lengths of follow-up (for similar interventions). Matching this research with future economic evaluation to identify which interventions are cost-effective may be extremely useful for policy makers and health providers.

As noted in the critical appraisal results, there were several methodological issues identified in the included papers. To improve the quality of the research and aid interpretation of future evaluations, intervention studies should make every effort to include a control group. For interventions where it is challenging to incorporate a control group into the study design (e.g. recovery colleges), waitlist control group could represent a feasible option. Attrition and missing data levels were moderate across studies, but it was concerning that only a small number of studies attempted an intention-to-treat analysis and fewer compared participant characteristics (wellbeing and demographics) between those who took part in the intervention until completion and those who did not. The quality of evaluations, particularly those produced as grey literature, could be improved with training in research methodology or collaboration with an evaluation partner.

We recommend that anyone using the WEMWBS to evaluate an intervention should familiarise themselves with the online user guide, which is available on the Warwick Medical School website after registering to use the scale. Most importantly, the WEMWBS questionnaire should be completed by participants before and after an intervention. As the WEMWBS asks how respondents have felt in the past two weeks, there should be at least two weeks between both measurements. It is also recommended by Warwick Medical School that the WEMWBS results should be presented

as a mean score for the population of interest with either a standard deviation or 95% confidence interval. Most studies adhered to this guidance, but for approximately 15% of interventions it was not possible to include these results in synthesis despite having used the same outcome measure pre and post intervention.

Conclusions

This rapid review summarises the key findings of mental wellbeing interventions conducted over the past 15 years and highlights several areas for future research. There was clear evidence that a broad range of interventions are effective at improving mental wellbeing, with medium to strong effects shown for psychological, social and art interventions. However, the quality of the evidence and the heterogeneity between individual intervention design, delivery and target group makes it challenging to draw strong conclusions, particularly the absence of a control group in most studies. With specific methodological changes in place, the valuable work that various stakeholders (e.g. from the NHS, government, academia, community organisations) are doing will help improve national wellbeing, and help future researchers and policy makers understand what works for mental wellbeing.

REFERENCES

- 1. Warwick Medical School. The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scales WEMWBS, https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/sci/med/research/platform/wemwbs/ (accessed November 2021).
- Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of life Outcomes* 2007; 5: 1-13.
- 3. Koushede V, Lasgaard M, Hinrichsen C, et al. Measuring mental well-being in Denmark: validation of the original and short version of the Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS and SWEMWBS) and cross-cultural comparison across four European settings. *Psychiatry research* 2019; 271: 502-509.
- 4. Munn Z, Peters MD, Stern C, et al. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC medical research methodology* 2018; 18: 1-7.
- 5. Hartling L, Guise J-M, Hempel S, et al. Fit for purpose: perspectives on rapid reviews from end-user interviews. *Systematic reviews* 2017; 6: 1-11.
- 6. Ganann R, Ciliska D and Thomas H. Expediting systematic reviews: methods and implications of rapid reviews. *Implementation Science* 2010; 5: 1-10.
- 7. Tricco AC, Antony J, Zarin W, et al. A scoping review of rapid review methods. *BMC medicine* 2015; 13: 1-15.
- 8. Garritty C, Gartlehner G, Nussbaumer-Streit B, et al. Cochrane Rapid Reviews Methods Group offers evidence-informed guidance to conduct rapid reviews. *Journal of clinical epidemiology* 2021; 130: 13-22.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, et al. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. *PLoS Med* 2009; 6. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097.
- 10. Blodgett JM, Kaushal A, Harkness F, et al. Rapid review of wellbeing evaluation research that uses the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scales (WEMWBS), Available from: <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42021288606</u> (2021).
- 11. Warwick Medical School. Examples of research using WEMWBS, <u>https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/sci/med/research/platform/wemwbs/research/research/</u> (accessed November 2021).
- 12. Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, et al. Rayyan—a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. *Syst Rev* 2016; 5.
- 13. Rohatgi A. WebPlotDigitalizer: HTML5 based online tool to extract numerical data from plot images. Version 4.5. 2021, https://apps.automeris.io/wpd/ (accessed January 2022).
- 14. Snape D, Meads C, Bagnall A, et al. *What Works Wellbeing: A guide to our evidence review methods.* 2019. London, UK: What Works Centre for Wellbeing.
- 15. Solutions for Public Health. *Rapid Evidence Assessment of Wellbeing Impact Evaluations using ONS4 Personal Wellbeing Measures*. 2020. What Works Centre for Wellbeing.
- 16. Popay J, Roberts H, Sowden A, et al. Guidance on the conduct of narrative synthesis in systematic reviews. A product from the ESRC methods programme Version 2006; 1: b92.
- 17. Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, et al. *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*. John Wiley & Sons, 2019.
- Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences 2nd ed Hillsdale NJ Erlbaum. 1988.
- 19. Brydges CR. Effect size guidelines, sample size calculations, and statistical power in gerontology. *Innovation in Aging* 2019; 3: igz036.

- 20. Weir CJ, Butcher I, Assi V, et al. Dealing with missing standard deviation and mean values in meta-analysis of continuous outcomes: a systematic review. *BMC medical research methodology* 2018; 18: 1-14.
- 21. Croft G. Reconnect to Innate Resilience. 2021.
- 22. Elston J, Gradinger F, Asthana S, et al. Does a social prescribing 'holistic' link-worker for older people with complex, multimorbidity improve well-being and frailty and reduce health and social care use and costs? A 12-month before-and-after evaluation. *Primary Health Care Research and Development* 2019; 20.
- 23. Iemmi V, Crepaz-Keay D, Cyhlarova E, et al. Peer-led self-management for people with severe mental disorders: an economic evaluation. *Journal of Mental Health Training Education and Practice* 2015; 10: 14-25.
- 24. Inglis J. Social Assets in Action Evaluation Report. 2013.
- 25. Kelley TM, Hollows J, Lambert EG, et al. Teaching health versus treating illness: The efficacy of three principles correctional counseling with people in an English prison. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology* 2018; 62: 2831-2856.
- 26. Martin F, Clyne W, Pearce G, et al. Self-management support intervention for parents of children with developmental disorders: The role of gratitude and hope. *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 2019; 28: 980-992.
- Martin F, Wright H, Moody L, et al. Help to Overcome Problems Effectively for Cancer Survivors: Development and Evaluation of a Digital Self-Management Program. J Med Internet Res 2020; 22: e17824. 2020/03/27. DOI: 10.2196/17824.
- 28. Mental Health Foundation. *Parc Prison. An evaluation of peer-led self-management training within a prison setting.* 2017. Wales.
- 29. Millar SL and Donnelly M. Promoting mental wellbeing: developing a theoretically and empirically sound complex intervention. *Journal of Public Health* 2013; 36: 275-284.
- 30. Mind Cymru and Age Cymru. *Our work in Wales: My Generation. Improving the mental resilience and wellbeing of people over 50 years old in Wales.* 2018. Cardiff.
- 31. Papadatou-Pastou M, Campbell-Thompson L, Barley E, et al. Exploring the feasibility and acceptability of the contents, design, and functionalities of an online intervention promoting mental health, wellbeing, and study skills in Higher Education students. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems* 2019; 13: 51.
- 32. Pratt R, MacGregor A, Reid S, et al. Experience of wellness recovery action planning in selfhelp and mutual support groups for people with lived experience of mental health difficulties. *The Scientific World Journal* 2013; 2013: 180587.
- 33. Rich A, Aly A, Baker M, et al. Evaluation of a novel intervention to reduce burnout in doctorsin-training using self-care and digital wellbeing strategies: a mixed-methods pilot. *BMC medical education* 2020; 20: 294.
- 34. Robinson M, Hanna E, Raine G, et al. Extending the comfort zone: Building resilience in older people with long-term conditions. *Journal of Applied Gerontology* 2019; 38: 825-848.
- 35. Robinson M, Robertson S, Steen M, et al. Doing and rethinking. Building resilience with men. *Mental Health Review Journal* 2015; 20: 185-198.
- 36. The Health Foundation. Optimising Strength and Resilience: Integrated physical and psychological health programme for patients, families and NHS staff. 2017. London.
- Wild J, El-Salahi S, Degli Esposti M, et al. Evaluating the effectiveness of a group-based resilience intervention versus psychoeducation for emergency responders in England: A randomised controlled trial. *PLoS One* 2020; 15: e0241704. 2020/11/13. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241704.

- Wright H, Martin F, Clyne W, et al. A Digital Self-management Program (Help to Overcome Problems Effectively) for People Living With Cancer: Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2021; 23: e28322. 2021/11/06. DOI: 10.2196/28322.
- 39. Beshai S, McAlpine L, Weare K, et al. A non-randomised feasibility trial assessing the efficacy of a mindfulness-based intervention for teachers to reduce stress and improve well-being. *Mindfulness* 2016; 7: 198-208.
- 40. Bostock S, Crosswell A, D. r, et al. Mindfulness on-the-go: Effects of a mindfulness meditation app on work stress and well-being. *Special Issue: Interventions in Occupational Health Psychology* 2019; 24: 127-138.
- 41. Fitzhugh H, Michaelides G, Connolly S, et al. *Mindfulness in policing.* A randomised controlled trial of two online mindfulness resources across five forces in England and Wales. 2019. Coventry.
- 42. Flynn S, Hastings RP, Burke C, et al. Online mindfulness stress intervention for family carers of children and adults with intellectual disabilities: Feasibility randomized controlled trial. *Mindfulness* 2020; 11: 2161-2175.
- 43. Gammer I, Hartley-Jones C and Jones FW. A randomized controlled trial of an online, compassion-based intervention for maternal psychological well-being in the first year postpartum. *Mindfulness* 2020; 11: 928-939.
- 44. Kawadler JM, Hemmings NR, Ponzo S, et al. Effectiveness of a Smartphone App (BioBase) for Reducing Anxiety and Increasing Mental Well-Being: Pilot Feasibility and Acceptability Study. *JMIR formative research* 2020; 4: e18067.
- 45. Kuyken W, Weare K, Ukoumunne OC, et al. Effectiveness of the Mindfulness in Schools Programme: Non-randomised controlled feasibility study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 2013; 203: 126-131.
- 46. Mahoney-Davies G, Dixon C, Tynan H, et al. An evaluation of the effectiveness of a 'Five Ways to Well-being' group run with people with learning disabilities. *British Journal of Learning Disabilities* 2017; 45: 56-63.
- 47. Malinowski P, Moore AW, Mead BR, et al. Mindful aging: The effects of regular brief mindfulness practice on electrophysiological markers of cognitive and affective processing in older adults. *Mindfulness* 2017; 8: 78-94.
- 48. McConachie DA, James e, McKenzie K, et al. Acceptance and mindfulness-based stress management for support staff caring for individuals with intellectual disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities* 2014; 35: 1216-1227.
- 49. Millar A, Tip L, Lennon R, et al. The introduction of mindfulness groups to a psychiatric rehabilitation in-patient setting: A feasibility study. *BMC Psychiatry* 2020; 20.
- 50. Mitchell M and Heads G. Staying Well: A Follow Up of a 5-Week Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction Programme for a Range of Psychological Issues. *Community mental health journal* 2015; 51: 897-902.
- 51. Montero-Marin J, Taylor L, Crane C, et al. Teachers "finding peace in a frantic world": An experimental study of self-taught and instructor-led mindfulness program formats on acceptability, effectiveness, and mechanisms. *Journal of Educational Psychology* 2021: No-Specified.
- 52. Roulston A, Montgomery L, Campbell A, et al. Exploring the impact of mindfulnesss on mental wellbeing, stress and resilience of undergraduate social work students. *Social Work Education* 2018; 37: 157-172.
- 53. Strauss C, Dunkeld C and Cavanagh K. Is clinician-supported use of a mindfulness smartphone app a feasible treatment for depression? A mixed-methods feasibility study. *Internet Interventions* 2021; 25: 100413.

- 54. Whitton T, Buchanan G and Smith S. How a mindfulness intervention can improve patients' mental wellbeing. *Nursing Times* 2019; 115: 48-51.
- 55. Bateman A and Fonagy P. A randomized controlled trial of a mentalization-based intervention (MBT-FACTS) for families of people with borderline personality disorder. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment* 2019; 10: 70-79.
- 56. Chiocchi J, Lamph G, Slevin P, et al. Can a carer (peer) led psychoeducation programme improve mental health carers well-being, reduce burden and enrich empowerment: a service evaluation study. *Journal of Mental Health Training, Education & Practice* 2019; 14: 131-140.
- Kidger J, Turner N, Hollingworth W, et al. An intervention to improve teacher well-being support and training to support students in UK high schools (the WISE study): A cluster randomised controlled trial. *PLoS Med* 2021; 18: e1003847. 2021/11/12. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003847.
- 58. McCoy E, Harrison R, Butler N, et al. *Evaluation of the Rock Pool Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Recovery Toolkit Programme*. 2019. Liverpool: Liverpool John Moores University Public Health Institute
- 59. Mirea D-M, Martin-Key NA, Olmert T, et al. Impact of a web-based psychiatric assessment on the mental health and well-being of individuals presenting with depressive symptoms: Longitudinal observational study. *JMIR Mental Health* 2021; 8: e23813.
- 60. Perry A, Gardener C, Dove J, et al. Improving mental health knowledge of the Charedi Orthodox Jewish community in north London: A partnership project. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry* 2018; 64: 235-247.
- 61. Smallwood J, Jolley S, Makhijani J, et al. Implementing specialist psychological support for caregivers in psychosis services: A preliminary report. *Psychosis: Psychological, Social and Integrative Approaches* 2017; 9: 119-128.
- 62. Spandler H, McKeown M, Roy A, et al. Football metaphor and mental well-being: An evaluation of the It's a Goal! programme. *Journal of Mental Health* 2013; 22: 544-554.
- 63. Thompson C, Fern, ez de la Cruz L, et al. Development of a brief psychoeducational group intervention for carers of people with hoarding disorder: A proof-of-concept study. *Journal of Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders* 2016; 9: 66-72.
- 64. Bhutani GE. Looking After Me Looking After You: Using positive cognitive behavioural techniques to improve emotional well-being. *the Cognitive Behaviour Therapist* 2015; 8.
- 65. Bradley J, Freeman D, Chadwick E, et al. Treating sleep problems in young people at ultrahigh risk of psychosis: A feasibility case series. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy* 2018; 46: 276-291.
- 66. Brown JSL, Blackshaw E, Stahl D, et al. School-based early intervention for anxiety and depression in older adolescents: A feasibility randomised controlled trial of a self-referral stress management workshop programme ("DISCOVER"). *Journal of Adolescence* 2019; 71: 150-161.
- 67. Carl JR, Miller CB, Henry AL, et al. Efficacy of digital cognitive behavioral therapy for moderate-to-severe symptoms of generalized anxiety disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Depression and Anxiety* 2020; 37: 1168-1178.
- 68. Espie CA, Emsley R, Kyle SD, et al. Effect of Digital Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia on Health, Psychological Well-being, and Sleep-Related Quality of Life: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* 2019; 76: 21-30.
- 69. Freeman D, Dunn G, Startup H, et al. Effects of cognitive behaviour therapy for worry on persecutory delusions in patients with psychosis (WIT): A parallel, single-blind, randomised controlled trial with a mediation analysis. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 2015; 2: 305-313.

- Freeman D, Pugh K, Dunn G, et al. An early Phase II randomised controlled trial testing the effect on persecutory delusions of using CBT to reduce negative cognitions about the self: The potential benefits of enhancing self confidence. *Schizophrenia Research* 2014; 160: 186-192.
- 71. Hayward M, Edgecumbe R, Jones A-M, et al. Brief coping strategy enhancement for distressing voices: An evaluation in routine clinical practice. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy* 2018; 46: 226-237.
- 72. Hazell CM, Hayward M, Cavanagh K, et al. Guided self-help cognitive-behaviour Intervention for VoicEs (GiVE): Results from a pilot randomised controlled trial in a transdiagnostic sample. *Schizophrenia Research* 2018; 195: 441-447.
- 73. Johns L, Jolley S, Garety P, et al. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies for people with Severe Mental Illness (IAPT-SMI): Lessons from the South London and Maudsley psychosis demonstration site. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2019; 116: 104-110.
- 74. Loucas CE, Sclare I, Stahl D, et al. Feasibility randomized controlled trial of a one-day CBT workshop ('DISCOVER') for 15- to 18-year-olds with anxiety and/or depression in clinic settings. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy* 2020; 48: 142-159.
- 75. Miller CB, Gu J, Henry AL, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of a digital CBT intervention for symptoms of Generalized Anxiety Disorder: A randomized multiple-baseline study. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry* 2021; 70.
- 76. Powell J, Hamborg T, Stallard N, et al. Effectiveness of a web-based cognitive-behavioral tool to improve mental well-being in the general population: randomized controlled trial. *Journal of medical Internet research* 2013; 15: e2.
- 77. Powell J, Williams V, Atherton H, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a self-guided internet intervention for social anxiety symptoms in a general population sample: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2020; 22.
- 78. Sheaves B, Freeman D, Isham L, et al. Stabilising sleep for patients admitted at acute crisis to a psychiatric hospital (OWLS): an assessor-blind pilot randomised controlled trial. *Psychological medicine* 2018; 48: 1694-1704.
- 79. The Health Foundation. Stabilising sleep for patients admitted at acute crisis to psychiatric hospital: a pilot ranomised controlled trial. 2016. London.
- 80. Turkington D, Gega L, Lebert L, et al. A training model for relatives and friends in cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) informed care for psychosis. *Cogent Psychology* 2018; 5.
- 81. Widnall E, Price A, Trompetter H, et al. Routine Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Anxiety and Depression is More Effective at Repairing Symptoms of Psychopathology than Enhancing Wellbeing. *Cognitive Therapy and Research* 2019; 44: 28-39. DOI: 10.1007/s10608-019-10041-y.
- 82. Allward C, Dunn R, Forshaw G, et al. Mental wellbeing in people with dementia following Cognitive Stimulation Therapy: Innovative practice. *Dementia* (14713012) 2020; 19: 496-504.
- 83. Bacon T, Doughty C, Summers A, et al. The Emotional Resources Group: Provisional outcome data for a pilot six-session emotion regulation programme for secondary care. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 2018; 57: 223-239.
- 84. Brown M, Hooper N, James P, et al. A Web-Delivered Acceptance and Commitment Therapy Intervention With Email Reminders to Enhance Subjective Well-Being and Encourage Engagement With Lifestyle Behavior Change in Health Care Staff: Randomized Cluster Feasibility Stud. *JMIR formative research* 2020; 4: e18586.
- 85. Cheshire A, Ridge D and Peters D. How do we improve men's mental health via primary care? An evaluation of the Atlas Men's Well-being Pilot Programme for stressed/distressed men. BMC family practice 2016; 17: 13.

- 86. Collins J, Gibson A, Parkin S, et al. Counselling in the workplace: How time-limited counselling can effect change in well-being. *Counselling & Psychotherapy Research* 2012; 12: 84-92.
- 87. Dunn BD, Widnall E, Reed N, et al. Bringing light into darkness: A multiple baseline mixed methods case series evaluation of Augmented Depression Therapy (ADepT). *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2019; 120.
- 88. Durcan G. Restoring something lost. The mental health impact of therapy dogs in prison. 2018. London: Centre for Mental Health,.
- 89. Flaherty-Jones GM, Carne A, S. r, et al. The steps to recovery program: Evaluation of a groupbased intervention for older individuals receiving mental health services. *Psychiatric rehabilitation journal* 2016; 39: 68-70.
- 90. Grajfoner D, Harte E, Potter LM, et al. The effect of dog-assisted intervention on student wellbeing, mood, and anxiety. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2017; 14: 483.
- 91. Hartley SE. Service users' perceptions of an outreach wellbeing service: A social enterprise for promoting mental health. *Community Mental Health Journal* 2017; 53: 842-851.
- 92. Hemmings NR, Kawadler JM, Whatmough R, et al. Development and Feasibility of a Digital Acceptance and Commitment Therapy-Based Intervention for Generalized Anxiety Disorder: Pilot Acceptability Study. *JMIR formative research* 2021; 5: e21737.
- 93. Jolley S, Johns LC, O'Donoghue E, et al. Group acceptance and commitment therapy for patients and caregivers in psychosis services: Feasibility of training and a preliminary randomized controlled evaluation. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 2020; 59: 524-551.
- 94. Kevern P and Hill L. 'Chaplains for well-being' in primary care: analysis of the results of a retrospective study. *Primary health care research & development* 2015; 16: 87-99.
- 95. Macdonald G. The efficacy of primary care chaplaincy compared with antidepressants: a retrospective study comparing chaplaincy with antidepressants. *Prim Health Care Res Dev* 2017; 18: 354-365. 2017/04/18. DOI: 10.1017/S1463423617000159.
- 96. Majumdar S and Morris R. Brief group-based acceptance and commitment therapy for stroke survivors. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 2019; 58: 70-90.
- 97. Northcott S, Barnard R, Hilari K, et al. Solution Focused Brief Therapy in Post-Stroke Aphasia (SOFIA): feasibility and acceptability results of a feasibility randomised wait-list controlled trial. *BMJ open* 2021; 11: e050308.
- Priebe S, Kelley L, Omer S, et al. The effectiveness of a patient-centred assessment with a solution-focused approach (DIALOG+) for patients with psychosis: A pragmatic cluster-randomised controlled trial in community care. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 2015; 84: 304-313.
- 99. Schrank B, Brownell T, Jakaite Z, et al. Evaluation of a positive psychotherapy group intervention for people with psychosis: Pilot randomised controlled trial. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences* 2016; 25: 235-246.
- 100. Strauss C, Lea L, Hayward M, et al. Mindfulness-based exposure and response prevention for obsessive compulsive disorder: Findings from a pilot randomised controlled trial. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders* 2018; 57: 39-47.
- 101. Battrick T, Crook L, Edwards K, et al. *Evaluation of the MEAM pilots Update on our findings*. 2014. London.
- 102. Beynon P, Burdis G, Hoadley J, et al. Bristol Ageing Better Community Navigators Service: Final evaluation report of a social prescribing initiative addressing loneliness and social isolation amongst older people. 2020. Bristol.

- 103. Borschmann R, Barrett B, Hellier JM, et al. Joint crisis plans for people with borderline personality disorder: Feasibility and outcomes in a randomised controlled trial. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 2013; 202: 357-364.
- 104. British Red Cross. Hope for the future: Support for survivors of trafficking after the National Referral Mechanism. 2019.
- 105. Cheshire PC, Gibbons S, Moul, et al. Social tenants' health: Evaluating the effectiveness of landlord interventions. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2018; 72: 413-419.
- 106. Dalkin SM, Forster N, Lhussier M, et al. Exposing the impact of intensive advice services on health: A realist evaluation. *Health & social care in the community* 2019; 27: 767-776.
- 107. Family Mosaic. Health Begins at Home. Final report. 2016. London.
- 108. Fisk MJ. The health behaviour and wellbeing of older seafarers on Merseyside indicated changes through brief interventions. *International maritime health* 2017; 68: 133-139.
- 109. Freeman D, Bradley J, Waite F, et al. Targeting recovery in persistent persecutory delusions: A proof of principle study of a new translational psychological treatment (the Feeling Safe Programme). Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy 2016; 44: 539-552.
- 110. Fullwood Y. Blended evaluation of Phase 2 of the Age UK Personalised Integrated Care Programme. 2018. Age UK.
- 111. Hill-Dixon A, Solley S and Davis H. Building Bridges, Building Health. An evaluation of SPEAR's Homeless Health Link Service. 2018. London: The Young Foundation.
- 112. Lloyd-Evans B, Frerichs J, Stefanidou T, et al. The Community Navigator Study: Results from a feasibility randomised controlled trial of a programme to reduce loneliness for people with complex anxiety or depression. *PLoS ONE* 2020; 15.
- 113. Lovell K, Bee P, Brooks H, et al. Embedding shared decision-making in the care of patients with severe and enduring mental health problems: The EQUIP pragmatic cluster randomised trial. *PLoS ONE* 2018; 13.
- 114. Maxwell M, Hibberd C, Aitchison P, et al. The Patient Centred Assessment Method for improving nurse-led biopsychosocial assessment of patients with long-term conditions: a feasibility RCT. *Health Services and Delivery Research* 2018; 6.
- 115. Reidy H, Webber M, Rayner S, et al. *Evaluation of the Southwark Reablement Service*. 2013. London.
- 116. Smith H, Eckley L and Whelen G. Evaluation of the Advocacy in Wirral's Independent Mental Health Act and Psychiatric Liaison Advocacy Services. 2012. Liverpool.
- 117. Thiel V, Sonola L, Goodwin N, et al. *The Esteem Team. Co-ordinated care in the Sandwell Integrated Primary Care Mental Health and Wellbeing Service*. 2013. London.
- Woodhead C, Khondoker M, Lomas R, et al. Impact of co-located welfare advice in healthcare settings: prospective quasi-experimental controlled study. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2017; 211: 388-395.
- 119. Bjornstad G, Cuffe-Fuller B, Ukoumunne OC, et al. Healthy Parent Carers: feasibility randomised controlled trial of a peer-led group-based health promotion intervention for parent carers of disabled children. *Pilot Feasibility Stud* 2021; 7: 144. 2021/07/25. DOI: 10.1186/s40814-021-00881-5.
- 120. Borek A, McDonald B, Fredlund M, et al. Healthy parent carers programme: Testing feasibility of a novel group-based intervention to improve the health and wellbeing of parents of disabled children. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 2017; 59: 46.
- 121. Bradley C, Day C, Penney C, et al. 'Every day is hard, being outside, but you have to do it for your child': Mixed-methods formative evaluation of a peer-led parenting intervention for homeless families. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2020; 25: 860-876. DOI: 10.1177/1359104520926247.

- 122. Cullen SM, Cullen M-A, Lindsay G, et al. The Parenting Early Intervention Programme in England, 2006-2011; A classed experience? *British Educational Research Journal* 2013; 39: 1025-1043.
- 123. Department for Digital Culture Media & Sport. Nesta/DCMS Centre for Social Action Innovation Fund Phase 2 Evaluation Report Summary Sheet. 2019.
- 124. Fisher J and Burchett N. Single Parents Wellbeing. An evaluation of five Wellbeing Workshops in South Wales created and facilitated by Single Parents Wellbeing for single parents. 2019.
- 125. Fisher J and Gingell R. *Creating Connections Impact Report 2014-2016*. 2016. Wales: Mental Health Foundation,.
- 126. Gray GR, Totsika V and Lindsay G. Sustained effectiveness of evidence-based parenting programs after the research trial ends. *Frontiers in Psychology* 2018; 9.
- 127. Harwood J, Fernandez L, Vallejo V, et al. Baby and Us: Community-based, feasibility trial of a psychosocial intervention for new parents and their infants 2021. (Unpublished).
- 128. Hutchings J, Griffith N, Bywater T, et al. Evaluating the Incredible Years Toddler Parenting Programme with parents of toddlers in disadvantaged (Flying Start) areas of Wales. *Child: Care, Health and Development* 2017; 43: 104-113.
- 129. Jones CH, Erjavec M, Viktor S, et al. Outcomes of a comparison study into a group-based infant parenting programme. *Journal of Child and Family Studies* 2016; 25: 3309-3321.
- 130. Knibbs S, Mollidor C and Bierman R. *KEEP Standard evaluation*. 2016. London.
- 131. Lindsay G, Strand S and Davis H. A comparison of the effectiveness of three parenting programmes in improving parenting skills, parent mental-well being and children's behaviour when implemented on a large scale in community settings in 18 English local authorities: the parenting early intervention pathfinder (PEIP). *BMC Public Health* 2011; 11: 962. 2012/01/03. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-962.
- 132. Lindsay G and Totsika V. The effectiveness of universal parenting programmes: the CANparent trial. *BMC Psychol* 2017; 5: 35. 2017/10/24. DOI: 10.1186/s40359-017-0204-1.
- Robertson W, Fleming J, Kamal A, et al. Randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of the 'Families for Health' programme to reduce obesity in children. Arch Dis Child 2016; 102: 416-426. 2016/12/23. DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-311514.
- 134. Simkiss DE, Snooks HA, Stallard N, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a universal parenting skills programme in deprived communities: multicentre randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open 2013; 3 2013/08/03. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-002851.
- 135. Connect Centre University of Central Lancashire, University of East London, Manchester Metropolitan University, et al. *Roadmap Evaluation Final Report.* 2021.
- 136. Institute of Public Care Oxford Brookes University. *Barnardo's Cymru. Opening Closed Doors Programme Evaluation. Final report.* 2020. Oxford: Institute of Public Care Oxford Brookes University,.
- 137. Tavistock Relationship. Tavistock Relationships project report. 2019.
- 138. Panayiotou M, Ville E, Poole L, et al. Learning from HeadStart: Does cross-age peer mentoring help young people with emerging mental health difficulties? . 2020. London.
- 139. Panayidou F and Priest B. Enhancing postgraduate researcher wellbeing through support groups. *Studies in Graduate and Postdoctoral Education* 2020; 12: 42-57.
- 140. Mental Health Foundation. An evaluation of the standing together project. 2018.
- 141. Chakkalackal L and Kalathil J. Evaluation report. Peer support groups to facilitate self-help coping strategies for people with dementia in extra care housing. 2014. London.
- 142. Marshall J, Devane N, Talbot R, et al. A randomised trial of social support group intervention for people with aphasia: A novel application of virtual reality. *PLoS ONE* 2020; 15.
- 143. Get Set to Go Research Consortium. Get Set to Go: Research findings. 2017. London: Mind.
- 144. Jones M, Beardmore A and White J. Effects of Bristol Ageing Better Projects for Older People. 2021. Bristol.
- 145. Jones RB, Ashurst EJ, Atkey J, et al. Older people going online: its value and before-after evaluation of volunteer support. *Journal of medical Internet research* 2015; 17: e122.
- 146. The Health Foundation. Shine 2014 final report. RIPPLE. Respiratory Innovation: Promoting Positive Life Experience. 2015.
- 147. Parsfield M, Morris D, Bola M, et al. Community Capital. The Valua of Connected Communities. 2015.
- 148. Moreton R, Slutz A, Richards S, et al. *Evaluation of Ageing Better in Birmingham*. 2018. Leicester.
- 149. Bromley by Bow Centre. *Macmillan Social Prescribing Service*. 2017. London.
- 150. Dayson C and Leather D. *Evaluation of HALE Community Connectors Social Prescribing Service 2017.* 2018. Sheffield: Sheffield Hallam University Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research,.
- 151. Giebel C, Morley N and Komuravelli A. A socially prescribed community service for people living with dementia and family carers and its long-term effects on well-being. *Health & social care in the community* 2021.
- 152. Pescheny JV, Pappas Y, hawa G, et al. The impact of the Luton social prescribing programme on mental well-being: a quantitative before-and-after study. *Journal of public health (Oxford, England)* 2021; 43: e69-e76.
- 153. Southmead Development Trust, BS3 Community, UWE Bristol, et al. *Community Webs. Final Evaluation Report.* 2018. Bristol.
- 154. Morton L, Ferguson M and Baty F. Improving wellbeing and self-efficacy by social prescription. *Public Health* 2015; 129: 286-289.
- 155. British Red Cross. Tackling Loneliness and Isolation: Findings from the evaluation of our Connecting Communities service. 2019.
- 156. Barker AB and Winship G. Recovery is no laughing matter or is it? *Mental Health & Social Inclusion* 2016; 20: 167-173.
- 157. Clift S, Manship S and Stephens L. Further evidence that singing fosters mental health and wellbeing: the West Kent and Medway project. *Mental Health & Social Inclusion* 2017; 21: 53-62.
- 158. Crone D, Ellis L and Sumner R. Flourish. Mixed Method Evaluation Final Report. 2017.
- Crone DM, Sumner RC, Baker CM, et al. 'Artlift' arts-on-referral intervention in UK primary care: updated findings from an ongoing observational study. *Eur J Public Health* 2018; 28: 404-409. 2018/02/21. DOI: 10.1093/eurpub/cky021.
- 160. Efstathopoulou L and Bungay H. Mental health and resilience: Arts on Prescription for children and young people in a school setting. *Public Health* 2021; 198: 196-199.
- Fancourt D, Perkins R, Ascenso S, et al. Group Drumming Modulates Cytokine Response in Mental Health Services Users: A Preliminary Study. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 2016; 85: 53-55.
- 162. Fancourt D, Perkins R, Ascenso S, et al. Effects of group drumming interventions on anxiety, depression, social resilience and inflammatory immune response among mental health service users. *PLoS ONE* 2016; 11.
- 163. Fancourt D, Warran K, Finn S, et al. Psychosocial singing interventions for the mental health and well-being of family carers of patients with cancer: Results from a longitudinal controlled study. *BMJ Open* 2019; 9: e026995.

- 164. Glenister S. A study of stakeholder perceptions of Noise Solution's practices: measuring impact on the well-being of youth facing challenging circumstances. University of Cambridge, Cambridge, 2017.
- 165. Margrove KL. Promoting the wellbeing and social inclusion of students through visual art at university: an Open Arts pilot project. *Journal of Further and Higher Education* 2015; 39: 147-162. DOI: 10.1080/0309877x.2013.778967.
- 166. Margrove KL, Se S, Heydinrych K, et al. Waiting list-controlled evaluation of a participatory arts course for people experiencing mental health problems. *Perspect Public Health* 2013; 133: 28-35. 2012/10/05. DOI: 10.1177/1757913912461587.
- Nevay S, Robertson L, Lim CSC, et al. Crafting Textile Connections: A mixed-methods approach to explore traditional and e-textile crafting for wellbeing. *Design Journal* 2019; 22: 487-501.
- 168. Poerio G and Totterdell P. The effect of fiction on the well-being of older adults: A longitudinal RCT intervention study using audiobooks. *Psychosocial Intervention* 2020; 29: 29-37.
- 169. Ribbans D and Glenister S. Noise Solution. 2019.
- 170. Secker J, Loughran M, Heydinrych K, et al. Promoting mental well-being and social inclusion through art: Evaluation of an arts and mental health project. *Arts & Health: An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice* 2011; 3: 51-60.
- 171. Sumner R and Hughes S. See with fresh eyes: Mindful photography for improved mental health. A mixed-methods evaluation. 2021. UK.
- 172. Tribe RH, Alcock K, Scior K, et al. A mixed methods exploration of "Creativity in Mind", an online creativity-based intervention for low mood and anxiety. *Journal of Mental Health* 2021.
- 173. van de Venter E and Buller AM. Arts on referral interventions: a mixed-methods study investigating factors associated with differential changes in mental well-being. *Journal of Public Health* 2014; 37: 143-150.
- 174. Wilson C, Secker J, Kent L, et al. Promoting mental wellbeing and social inclusion through art: six month follow-up results from Open Arts Essex. *International Journal of Mental Health Promotion* 2017; 19: 268-277. DOI: 10.1080/14623730.2017.1345688.
- 175. Khan L, Saini G, Augustine A, et al. *Against the odds. Evaluation of the Mind Birmingham Up My Street programme.* 2017. London: Centre for Mental Health.
- 176. Heaslip V and Darvill T. Human Henge Wellbeing Research: Final Report. 2018. Bournemouth.
- 177. Ecorys. Arts for wellbeing: unlocking social energy to increase wellbeing. 2017.
- 178. Beishon J and Munoz N. "I feel fitter and better being outside". Green Gym Evaluation Report. 2016. Doncaster.
- 179. Chiumento A, Mukherjee I, Ch, et al. A haven of green space: learning from a pilot pre-post evaluation of a school-based social and therapeutic horticulture intervention with children. *Bmc Public Health* 2018; 18.
- 180. Farrier A, Baybutt M and Dooris M. Mental health and wellbeing benefits from a prisons horticultural programme. *International journal of prisoner health* 2019; 15: 91-104.
- 181. Kearns A, Ghosh S, Mason P, et al. Urban regeneration and mental health: Investigating the effects of an area-based intervention using a modified intention to treat analysis with alternative outcome measures. *Health and Place* 2020; 61: 102262.
- 182. Maund PR, Irvine KN, Reeves J, et al. Wetlands for Wellbeing: Piloting a Nature-Based Health Intervention for the Management of Anxiety and Depression. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2019; 16.
- 183. Sumner R, Sitch M and Stonebridge N. A mixed method evaluation of the Nature on Prescription social prescribing programme. 2020. UK.

- 184. Wilson NW, Jones R, Fleming S, et al. Branching Out: The Impact of a Mental Health Ecotherapy Program. *Ecopsychology* 2011; 3: 51-57. DOI: 10.1089/eco.2010.0049.
- 185. Connolly LJ, Scott S, Morencos CM, et al. Impact of a novel home-based exercise intervention on health indicators in inactive premenopausal women: A 12-week randomised controlled trial. *European journal of applied physiology* 2020; 120: 771-782.
- 186. Corepal R, O'Neill R, Kee F, et al. A feasibility study of 'The StepSmart Challenge' to promote physical activity in adolescents. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies* 2019; 5: 132.
- 187. France J, Sennett J, Jones A, et al. Evaluation of Walking for Health. Final report to Macmillan and the Ramblers. 2016.
- 188. Gray R and Gow AJ. Cycling Without Age: Assessing the Impact of a Cycling-Based Initiative on Mood and Wellbeing. *Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine* 2020; 6.
- 189. Hadley R, Eastwood-Gray O, Kiddier M, et al. "Dance Like Nobody's Watching": Exploring the Role of Dance-Based Interventions in Perceived Well-Being and Bodily Awareness in People With Parkinson's. *Frontiers in psychology* 2020; 11: 531567.
- 190. Harris MA. The relationship between physical inactivity and mental wellbeing: Findings from a gamification-based community-wide physical activity intervention. *Health Psychology Open* 2018; 5.
- 191. Henderson C, O'Hara S, Thornicroft G, et al. Corporate social responsibility and mental health: The Premier League football Imagine Your Goals programme. *International Review of Psychiatry* 2014; 26: 460-466.
- 192. Hunter RF, Murray JM, Gough A, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a loyalty scheme for physical activity behaviour change maintenance: Results from a cluster randomised controlled trial. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2018; 15.
- 193. Kay CWP and McKenna J. The enduring well-being impacts of attending the Battle Back Multi Activity Course for the lives of recovering UK armed forces personnel. *Military Psychology* 2022.
- 194. Lewis CJ, Reeves MJ and Roberts SJ. Improving the physical and mental well-being of typically hard-to-reach men: An investigation of the impact of the Active Rovers project. *Sport in Society* 2017; 20: 258-268.
- 195. Malcolm E, Evans-Lacko S, Little K, et al. The impact of exercise projects to promote mental wellbeing. *Journal of Mental Health* 2013; 22: 519-527.
- 196. Peacock SM, McKenna J, Carless D, et al. Outcomes from a One-Week Adapted Sport and Adapted Adventure Recovery Programme for Military Personnel. *Sports* 2019; 7.
- 197. Tew GA, Hardy M, Howsam J, et al. Adapted yoga to improve physical function and healthrelated quality of life in physically-inactive older adults: a randomised controlled pilot trial. *BMC geriatrics* 2017; 17: 131.
- 198. Walker L, Smith N and Delon C. Weight loss, hypertension and mental well-being improvements during COVID-19 with a multicomponent health promotion programme on Zoom: a service evaluation in primary care. *BMJ nutrition, prevention & health* 2021; 4: 102-110.
- 199. Newbury-Birch D, Scott S, O'Donnell A, et al. A pilot feasibility cluster randomised controlled trial of screening and brief alcohol intervention to prevent hazardous drinking in young people aged 14-15 years in a high school setting (SIPS JR-HIGH). Southampton (UK), 2014.
- 200. Giles EL, McGeechan GJ, Coulton S, et al. Brief alcohol intervention for risky drinking in young people aged 14 15 years in secondary schools: the SIPS JR-HIGH RCT. *Public Health Research* 2019.

- 201. Johnson R, Robertson W, Stewart-Brown S, et al. Changes over time in mental well-being, fruit and vegetable consumption and physical activity in a community-based lifestyle intervention: a before and after study. *Public Health* 2017; 146: 118-125.
- 202. Callaghan L, Thompson TP, Creanor S, et al. Individual Health Trainers to support health and wellbeing for people under community supervision in the criminal justice system: the STRENGTHEN pilot RCT. 2019.
- 203. CLES Consulting and New Economics Foundation. *Big Lottery Fund National Well-Being Evaluation*. 2013. The Big Lottery Fund.
- 204. Scott L, Williams J, Molyneux J, et al. Wellbeing 2 programme evaluation: A final report to the Big Lottery Fund. 2014. Ecorys.
- 205. Age UK. Fit as a Fiddle. Final Evaluation Report Community Network Engaging Isolated Older Adults for Improved Health and Well-being. 2013. London.
- 206. Wigfield A, Kispeter E, Alden A, et al. *Age UK's fit for the future Project: Evaluation Report.* 2015. University of Leeds: Centre for International Research on Care, Labour and Equalities.
- 207. Scanlon K, Bradshaw-Walsh K, McNeil B, et al. The Youth Investment Fund: Learning and Insight Paper Seven. Findings from a shared evaluation of open access youth provision. Technical report. 2021.
- 208. Day L, Campbell-Jack D and Bertolotto E. Evaluation of the Peer Support for Mental Health and Wellbeing Pilots. 2020. London.
- 209. Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. *National Evaluation of the Troubled Families Programme 2015-2020: Findings.* 2019. London.
- 210. Acton JH, Molik B, Court H, et al. Effect of a home visit-based low vision rehabilitation intervention on visual function outcomes: An exploratory randomized controlled trial. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 2016; 57: 6662-6667.
- 211. Basu A, Watson R, Wright B, et al. Early therapy in perinatal stroke: Pilot feasibility trial. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 2018; 60: 9.
- 212. Elnazer HY, Sampson AP and Baldwin DS. Effects of celecoxib augmentation of antidepressant or anxiolytic treatment on affective symptoms and inflammatory markers in patients with anxiety disorders: Exploratory study. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology* 2021: 126-132.
- 213. Evans C, Banissy MJ and Charlton RA. The efficacy of transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS) on mood may depend on individual differences including age and trait mood. *Clinical Neurophysiology* 2018; 129: 1201-1208.
- 214. Osborn D, Burton A, ra, et al. Clinical and cost-effectiveness of an intervention for reducing cholesterol and cardiovascular risk for people with severe mental illness in English primary care: A cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 2018; 5: 145-154.
- Steel C, Korrelboom K, Fazil Baksh M, et al. Positive memory training for the treatment of depression in schizophrenia: A randomised controlled trial. *Behav Res Ther* 2020; 135: 103734. 2020/10/02. DOI: 10.1016/j.brat.2020.103734.
- 216. Stuttard L, Boyle P, Mayhew E, et al. Hearing dogs for people with severe and profound hearing loss: a wait-list design randomised controlled trial investigating their effectiveness and cost-effectiveness. *Trials* 2021; 22: 700.
- 217. Slade M, Bird V, Clarke E, et al. Supporting recovery in patients with psychosis through care by community-based adult mental health teams (REFOCUS): A multisite, cluster, randomised, controlled trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry* 2015; 2: 503-514.
- 218. Webber M, Morris D, Howarth S, et al. Effect of the connecting people intervention on social capital: A pilot study. *Research on Social Work Practice* 2019; 29: 483-494.

- 219. Stansfeld SA, Berney L, Lanz D, et al. Pilot study of a cluster randomised trial of a guided elearning health promotion intervention for managers based on management standards for the improvement of employee well-being and reduction of sickness absence: GEM Study. *BMJ Open* 2015; 5: e007981.
- 220. Ebrahim S, Glascott A, Mayer H, et al. Recovery Colleges; how effective are they? *Journal of Mental Health Training, Education & Practice* 2018; 13: 209-218.
- 221. Foundation MH. Progression Together: An evaluation of a model of personalised residential care developed by Together for Mental Wellbeing. 2016.
- 222. Harrison R, Cochrane M, Pendlebury M, et al. *Evaluation of Four Recovery Communities across England: Final report for the Give It Up project.* 2017. Liverpool.
- 223. Lamb D, Steare T, Kirkbride JB, et al. A comparison of clinical outcomes, service satisfaction and well-being in people using acute day units and crisis resolution teams: Cohort study in England. *BJPsych Open* 2021; 7: e68.
- 224. Wilson C, King M and Russell J. A mixed-methods evaluation of a Recovery College in South East Essex for people with mental health difficulties. *Health Soc Care Community* 2019; 27: 1353-1362. 2019/06/04. DOI: 10.1111/hsc.12774.
- 225. Naruse SM and Moss M. Effects of couples positive massage programme on wellbeing, perceived stress and coping, and relation satisfaction. *Health psychology and behavioral medicine* 2019; 7: 328-347.
- Elphick HE, Lawson C, Ives A, et al. Pilot study of an integrated model of sleep support for children: a before and after evaluation. *BMJ Paediatr Open* 2019; 3: e000551. 2019/12/05. DOI: 10.1136/bmjpo-2019-000551.
- 227. Gensler and The Helen Hamlyn Centre for Design. Workplace & Wellbeing: What aspects of workplace design are most important to people's wellbeing? 2016.
- 228. Collis A and Eggers F. *Effects of restricting social media usage*. 2020. Sloan School of Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology Faculty of Economics and Business, University of Groningen.
- 229. Evans S, Waller S, Bray J, et al. Making Homes More Dementia-Friendly through the Use of Aids and Adaptations. *Healthcare (Basel)* 2019; 7 2019/03/20. DOI: 10.3390/healthcare7010043.
- 230. Sumner RC, Crone DM, Hughes S, et al. Arts on prescription: observed changes in anxiety, depression, and well-being across referral cycles. *Public Health* 2021; 192: 49-55. 2021/02/26. DOI: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.12.008.
- 231. Sumner RC, Crone DM, Baker C, et al. Factors associated with attendance, engagement and wellbeing change in an arts on prescription intervention. *J Public Health (Oxf)* 2020; 42: e88-e95. 2019/04/09. DOI: 10.1093/pubmed/fdz032.
- 232. Stansfeld SA, Berney L, Lanz D, et al. Pilot study of a randomised trial of a guided e-learning health promotion intervention for managers based on management standards for the improvement of employee well-being and reduction of sickness absence: the GEM (Guided E-learning for Managers) study. *Public Health Research* 2015; 3: ISSN 2050-4381.
- 233. Scanlon K, Bradshaw-Walsh K, McNeil B, et al. Technical Report: The Youth Investment Fund: Learning and Insight Paper Seven. Findings from a shared evaluation of open access youth provision. 2021.
- 234. Robertson W, Fleming J, Kamal A, et al. Randomised controlled trial evaluating the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of 'Families for Health', a family-based childhood obesity treatment intervention delivered in a community setting for ages 6 to 11 years. *Health Technol Assess* 2017; 21: ISSN 1366-5278.

- 235. Macdonald G. Primary care chaplaincy: a valid talking therapy? *Br J Gen Pract* 2017; 67: 77. 2017/01/28. DOI: 10.3399/bjgp17X689221.
- 236. Luik AI, Marsden A, Emsley R, et al. Long-term benefits of digital cognitive behavioural therapy for insomnia: Follow-up report from a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Sleep Research* 2020; 29: e13018.
- 237. Leeds Beckett University. Carnegie Great Outdoors. 2021. Leeds.
- 238. Kay CWP and McKenna J. Battle Back: Adaptive Adventure Sports and Military Recovery. 2019.
- 239. The Carnegie School of Sport Leeds Beckett University. *Battle Back Veterans Courses. Wellbeing impact research 2019.* 2019. Leeds.
- 240. The Carnegie School of Sport Leeds Beckett University. *Battle Back Multi Activity Course Impact Report.* 2018. Leeds.
- 241. Glenister S. Changes in well-being of youth in challenging circumstances: Evaluation after a 10-week intervention combining music mentoring and digital storytelling. *Transform: New Voice in Community Music* 2018; 1: 59-80.
- 242. Dawson V and Elphick H. Behavioural intervention to improve sleep for children: aiming to improve physical, mental and emotional wellbeing. *Perspect Public Health* 2019; 139: 66-67. 2019/03/19. DOI: 10.1177/1757913918823702.
- Crone DM, O'Connell EE, Tyson PJ, et al. 'Art Lift' intervention to improve mental well-being: an observational study from U.K. general practice. *Int J Ment Health Nurs* 2013; 22: 279-286. 2012/08/18. DOI: 10.1111/j.1447-0349.2012.00862.x.
- 244. Crone D, Hughes S, Sumner R, et al. Flourish 2. Mixed Method Evaluation Final Report. 2018.
- 245. British Red Cross. Tackling Loneliness Together: British Red Cross and Co-op end of partnership report. 2020.
- 246. Ecorys UK and University of Keele Centre for Social Gerontology. *fit as a fiddle: Final evaluation report.* 2013.
- 247. Warwick Medical School. Collect, score, analyse and interpret WEMWBS, <u>https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/sci/med/research/platform/wemwbs/using/howto/</u> (accessed accessed January 2022).
- 248. Maheswaran H, Weich S, Powell J, et al. Evaluating the responsiveness of the Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMWBS): Group and individual level analysis. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 2012; 10: 1-8.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scales

The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (14-items): Below are some statements about feelings and thoughts. Please tick the box that best describes your experience of each over the last 2 weeks

	None	Rarely	Some	Often	All of
	of the	(2)	of the	(4)	the
	time (1)		time (3)		time (5)
1. I've been feeling optimistic about the future	0	0	0	0	0
2. I've been feeling useful	0	0	0	0	0
3. I've been feeling relaxed	0	0	0	0	0
4. I've been feeling interested in other people	0	0	0	0	0
5. I've had energy to spare	0	0	0	0	0
6. I've been dealing with problems well	0	0	0	0	0
7. I've been thinking clearly	0	0	0	0	0
8. I've been feeling good about myself	0	0	0	0	0
9. I've been feeling close to other people	0	0	0	0	0
10. I've been feeling confident	0	0	0	0	0
11. I've been able to make up my own mind	0	0	0	0	0
about things	Ū	Ū	Ū	Ū	Ū
12. I've been feeling loved	0	0	0	0	0
13. I've been interested in new things	0	0	0	0	0
14. I've been feeling cheerful	0	0	0	0	0

The Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (7-items): Below are some statements about feelings and thoughts. Please tick the box that best describes your experience of each over the last 2 weeks

	None of the	Rarely (2)	Some of the	Often (4)	All of the
	time (1)		time (3)		time (5)
1. I've been feeling optimistic about the future	0	0	0	0	0
2. I've been feeling useful	0	0	0	0	0
3. I've been feeling relaxed	0	0	0	0	0
4. I've been dealing with problems well	0	0	0	0	0
5. I've been thinking clearly	0	0	0	0	0
6. I've been feeling close to other people	0	0	0	0	0
7. I've been able to make up my own mind about things	o	o	o	o	0

Appendix B: Population Intervention Control Outcome (PICO) criteria

Inclusion element	Inclusion criteria
Population	Children and adults (no age or health restrictions)
Intervention	Any intervention which measures WEMWBSs scores as a primary or secondary outcomes
Comparator/ Control	 All studies must report a pre-intervention WEMWBS scores. A control group with no intervention or an alternative 'control' intervention is ideal but not mandatory.
Outcome	Reporting a within-person change or a between-person difference in the 7 or 14-item WEMWBS
Other limits	 Date: Published from 2007 to present Language: English Study type: Studies evaluating the impact of an intervention on mental wellbeing either with a pre-post design or with a control group. Studies, reports and other grey literature sources.

Appendix C: Search strategy

1	Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]
2	Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]
3	Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]
4	Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]
5	*WEMWBS.mp . [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism
	supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]
6	 supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms] *SWEMWBS.mp. [mp=title, abstract, original title, name of substance word, subject heading word, floating sub-heading word, keyword heading word, organism supplementary concept word, protocol supplementary concept word, rare disease supplementary concept word, unique identifier, synonyms]

Note: depending on capability of the database search, wildcards (?) were used to replace the "-" in Wellbeing and Warwick Edinburgh. The use of '*' allows for WEMWBS or SWEMWBS to be captured, and the wildcard '?' will address any differences in spacing or hyphenation used by authors.

Nov 11, 2021 | by Margherita Musella

Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scales (WEMWBS): Call for Evidence

Have you used the <u>Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scales</u>(WEMWBS) to assess the impact of an intervention on mental wellbeing? Then we want to hear from you.

Together with <u>Kohlrabi Consulting</u>, we are <u>reviewing evaluation literature</u> that uses the WEMWBS scales to evaluate wellbeing interventions aimed at children, young people and adults. The project is funded by the National Lottery Community Fund.

We are interested in studies from across voluntary, public and private sectors, to summarise evidence on what works to improve mental wellbeing, for whom and in what contexts.

Criteria for submission

We are looking for evaluations of interventions where improvement in mental wellbeing is an objective.

Studies submitted must meet ALL of the following criteria:

- Evaluate a project or intervention conducted in the UK with children, young people and adults. This can be in any setting, including: community interventions, health interventions, social care/services interventions, education/skills-based interventions and workplace interventions.
- Assess the effects of a project or intervention on mental wellbeing using the 14-point Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing scale or the 7-point Short-Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing scale.
- Measure changes in WEMWBS scores against a comparator. This could be by conducting a before-and-after intervention assessment by measuring mental wellbeing at baseline (e.g. pre-intervention) and at endline (post-intervention).
- Published from 2007-onwards and include author details and date.
- Written in the English language and publicly available.

Why a call for evidence?

Searching for evidence on wellbeing and related topics can present technical and resource challenges, particularly if studies are not adequately indexed by study design or wellbeing measures used. Our experience has shown that some of the wellbeing research produced by our <u>Centre's audiences</u> is best located through a snowballing approach, by targeting relevant experts and stakeholders.

As part of our evidence reviews, we often use <u>calls for evidence</u> to complement structured database and online literature searches, and, in particular, to increase the sensitivity of grey literature searches. Where necessary, we seek advice from our project consultation groups to ensure quality and fully document the approach in our reports to maximise transparency.

Find out more about the project

Go to the WEMWBS Evaluation Deep Dive project page.

Appendix E: What Works Centre for Wellbeing Quality Checklist: Quantitative evidence of intervention effectiveness

The checklist below is from the quality checklist for quantitative evidence of intervention effectiveness. In a previous review, WWCW developed a scoring system has been added to provide an indication of overall level of confidence in the design, conduct and reporting of the study. The 10 elements of the checklist can be scored either 1 (yes) or 0 (no, can't tell or N/A). The total score can be used to assign each study an overall level of confidence of low (0-2), moderate (3-6) or high (7-10).

Question	Element	Response options
Was the evidence	Fidelity:	Yes (1)
well-designed?	• The extent to which the intervention was delivered with	No (0)
	fidelity is clear – i.e., if there is a specific intervention	Can't tell (0)
	which is being evaluated, this has been well	N/A (0)
	reproduced.	
	Measurement:	Yes (1)
	• The measures are appropriate for the intervention's	No (0)
	anticipated outcomes and population.	Can't tell (0)
	• Participants completed the same set of measures	N/A (0)
	once shortly before participating in the intervention	
	and once again immediately afterwards.	
	• An 'intent-to-treat' design was used, meaning that	
	all participants recruited to the intervention	
	participated in the pre/post measurement,	
	intervention they received even if they drapped	
	aut of the intervention (this does not include	
	dropping out of the study - which may then be	
	recorded as missing data)	
	Counterfactual:	Yes (1)
	 Assignment to the treatment and comparison group 	No (0)
	was at the appropriate level (e.g., individual, family,	Can't tell (0)
	school, community).	N/A (0)
	• The comparison condition provides an appropriate	
	counterfactual to the treatment group. Consider:	
	• Participants were randomly assigned to the treatment	
	and control group through the use of methods	
	appropriate for the circumstances and target	
	population OR sufficiently rigorous quasi-experimental	
	methods (regression discontinuity, propensity score	
	matching) were used to generate an appropriately	
	comparable sample through non-random methods.	
	• The treatment and comparison conditions are	
	thoroughly described.	
VVas the study	Representative:	Yes (1)
carried out	• The sample is representative of the intervention's	
appropriately?	target population in terms of age, demographics and	
	stated	IN/A (U)
appropriate sample	slateu.	

Question	Element	Response options
	• There is baseline equivalence between the treatment and comparison group participants on key demographic variables of interest to the study and baseline measures of outcomes (when feasible).	
	 Sample size: The sample size is sufficiently large to test for the desired impact. This depends most importantly on the effect size, however a suggestion could be, for example, that a minimum of 20 participants have completed the measures at both time points within each study group. 	Yes (1) No (0) Can't tell (0) N/A (0)
	Attrition:	Yes (1)
	 A minimum of 35% of the participants completed pre/post measures. Overall study attrition is not higher than 65%. The study had clear processes for determining and reporting drop-out and dose. Differences between study drop-outs and completers were reported if attrition was greater than 10%. The study assessed and reported on overall and differential attrition. 	No (0) Can't tell (0) N/A (0)
	differential attrition.	Voc (1)
	 Equivalence: Risks for contamination of the comparison group and other confounding factors have been taken into account and controlled for in the analysis if possible. Participants were blind as to their assignment to the treatment and comparison group. There was consistent and equivalent measurement of the treatment and control groups at all points when measurement took place. 	Yes (1) No (0) Can't tell (0) N/A (0)
	Measures:	Yes (1)
	 The measures used were valid and reliable. This means that the measure was standardised and validated independently of the study, and that the methods for standardisation were published. Administrative data and observational measures may also have been used to measure programme impact, but sufficient Information was given to determine their validity for doing this. Measurement was independent of any measures used as part of the treatment. In addition to any self-reported data (collected through the use of validated instruments), the study also included assessment information independent of the study participants (e.g., an independent observer, administrative data etc) 	No (0) Can't tell (0) N/A (0)
Was the analysis appropriate?	• The methods used to analyse results are appropriate given the data being analysed (categorical, ordinal/ratio, parametric/non-parametric, etc.) and the purpose of the analysis.	Yes (1) No (0) Can't tell (0) N/A (0)

Question	Element	Response options
	Appropriate methods have been used and reported	
	for the treatment of missing data.	
Is the evidence	• Are the findings made explicit?	Yes (1)
consistent?	• Is there adequate discussion of the evidence both for	No (0)
	and against the researcher's arguments?	Can't tell (0)
	• Has the researcher discussed the credibility of their	N/A (0)
	findings (e.g., triangulation, respondent validation, more than one analyst)?	
	• Are the findings discussed in relation to the original research question?	

Appendix F: Intervention types and effect on wellbeing for all studies (n=223)





Appendix G: Intervention types and effect on wellbeing for studies with control groups (n=79)

Appendix H: Study characteristics (n=209)

Study characteristics	N (%)
Evidence type	
Peer-reviewed publication	150 (71.8)
Report	53 (25.4)
Other (e.g. evaluation summaries and evidence briefings)	6 (2.0)
Age group ^a	
Children (0-10)	3 (1.4)
Adolescents (11-18)	22 (10.5)
Young adults (19-25)	76 (36.4)
Adults (26-59)	175 (83.7)
Older adults (60+)	63 (30.1)
Control group	
No	132 (63.2)
Yes	77 (36.8)
Randomisation (for studies with control group)	
Individual randomisation	33 (44.0)
No randomisation nor wait-list	18 (24.0)
Wait-list control group	13 (17.3)
Cluster randomisation	11 (14.7)
Wellbeing measure	
14-item WEMWBS	145 (69.4)
7-item SWEMWBS	64 (30.6)
Modifications to WEMWBS	
No	205 (98.1)
Yes	4 (1.9)
Examined WEMWBS scores by subgroup	
No	174 (83.3)
Yes	35 (16.7)
Assessment at additional follow-up points	
No	143 (68.4)
Yes	66 (31.6)
Economic evaluation results reported	
No	171 (81.8)
Yes	38 (18.2)
^a Percentages do not add up to 100% due to multiple age groups ir studies)	n studies (48% of

Level of Reference Participants Intervention details Effect of intervention on wellbeing confidence Compared to control Pre- vs. Post Resilience, wellbeing, and self-management Croft, 2021²¹ Staff working in a large Social Reconnect to Innate Resilience: 6x 90min online didactic sessions Significant (wellbeing Moderate Services team (n=13)to improve and educate about resilience over an 8 week period increased) Elston et al., 2019²² Older people with complex Participants receive an initial 30-40 minute session with a co-Significant (wellbeing High multimorbidity (n=86) ordinator (non-healthcare staff with training in goalsetting) to set increased) goals for 'living well'. Co-ordinator then works with participant for next 12-weeks in resilience-focused coaching and advocating for local support services lemmi et al., 2015²³ Adults with severe mental Self-management Intervention .: A 2-day peer-led self-Significant (wellbeing Moderate disorders who use secondary management workshop to teach goal-setting and problem-solving increased) mental health services. (n=87) techniques, to empower people and to facilitate meeting with others and sharing of experiences. The workshop was followed by 6 half day workshops over three months, and 6 on-going peer group meetings over 6 months. Inglis, 2013²⁴ Personal Asset Mapping: 1 to 1 session with a mental health Individuals seeing a mental Not tested Moderate health practitioner in practitioner developing a personal asset map (resources Kirkintilloch (Scotland) (n=15) individuals have at their disposal) in a 1:1 setting Kelley et al., 2018²⁵ Prisoners resident in HM Prison Three Principles Correctional Counselling (3PCC): 10 weekly 3-Significant (wellbeing Not significant Moderate hour classes on three Principles Correctional Counselling aimed to increased) Onley (n=114) sustain inner health (3 principles: Universal Mind, consciousness, and thought) Martin et al., 2019²⁶ Parents of children with HOPE: 6 weekly 2.5hr self-management sessions Significant (wellbeing Moderate developmental disorders increased) (n=137) Martin et al., 2020²⁷ People living with cancer or iHOPE (Help to Overcome Problems Effectively): 6-week web-Significant (wellbeing Moderate recent cancer survivors (n=51) based course consisting of text, images, downloadable increased) documents, and links to external websites, interactive activities (e.g., guizzes, self-monitoring tools, and diaries), forums and messaging facilities Mental Health Vulnerable adult male Weekly 2-3hr session for 4 weeks that was peer-facilitated and Significant (wellbeing Moderate Foundation, 2017²⁸ prisoners at HM Prison & focus on: positive thinking, goal setting, managing wellbeing and increased) Young Offers' Institution Parc behaviour, working with professionals, developing a personal in Wales (n=50) 'toolbox' Millar & Donnelly, Adults showing signs of mental 12 weekly 2hr sessions aiming to raise awareness and knowledge Significant (wellbeing Moderate 2013²⁹ health difficulties (n=109) about how to protect mental health and wellbeing and to increase increased) skills and personal resources Mind Cymru, 2018³⁰ Older adults in urban and rural My Generation: 8 weekly 1hr sessions of a resilience training Moderate Not tested areas of Wales (n not reported) programme

Appendix I1: Description of studies: Psychological interventions

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention o	Level of	
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Papadatou-Pastou et al., 2019 ³¹	Postgraduate and undergraduate students with minor to moderate psychological difficulties (n=13)	MePlusMe: A single full day workshop where university students were introduced to the MePlusMe system, an online psychological wellbeing and study skills support system and students were encouraged to revisit meaning material and practice what they had learnt over the follow up period	Not tested		Moderate
Pratt et al., 2013 ³²	People with lived experience of mental health difficulties (n=47)	Wellness Recovery Action Planning (WRAP): Weekly sessions (split over 2 or 4 weeks) of Wellness Recovery Action Planning, which is a tool for self-management and wellness planning	Not tested		Moderate
Rich et al., 2020 ³³	Students training to be medical doctors (n=18)	Individualised Wellbeing And Resilience for DoctorS (iWARDS): Brief in-person workshops to enhance self-care skills and help them manage their work-life balance and use of technology	Not significant		High
Robinson et al., 2019 ³⁴	People with long-term health conditions (diabetes, heart disease, and arthritis) (n=160)	6 weekly 2hr sessions of a mental health resilience course delivered by the charity Mind	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Robinson et al., 2015 ³⁵	Unemployed men (n=53)	Local Resilience (by Mind): 5 distinct projects delivered by local Mind centres aiming to improve resilience; projects lasted 2 weeks to 6 months consisting of various physical activity, arts, CBT, psychoeducation, and mindfulness elements	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
The Health Foundation, 2017 ³⁶	Patients living with long-term health conditions, their families and NHS staff (n=203)	Optimising Strength & Resilience: One day workshop focusing on education, awareness-raising and behavioural change activities; committee work, change champions and strategy development were also part of the programme.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Wild et al., 2020 ³⁷	Police, ambulance, fire, and search and rescue services personnel (n=427)	Mind Resilience Program: 6-week course consisting of a weekly 2.5hr group session providing information about mental health and experiential exercises drawn from stress management and mindfulness	Not significant	Not significant	High
Wright et al., 2021 ³⁸	People living with cancer or recent cancer survivors (n=26)	iHOPE (Help to Overcome Problems Effectively): 6-week web- based course consisting of text, images, downloadable documents, and links to external websites, interactive activities (e.g., quizzes, self-monitoring tools, and diaries), forums and messaging facilities	Not significant	Not significant	High
Mindfulness					
Beshai et al., 2016 ³⁹	Secondary school teachers and staff (n=89)	.b Foundations Course: 9 sessions (one presentation and 8 weekly 75-minute sessions) on mindfulness delivered by trained teachers	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	Moderate
Bostock et al., 2019 ⁴⁰	Healthy employees from two large UK companies (n=186)	Mindfulness app that offered 45 pre-recorded 10-20 minute guided audio meditations, participants asked to complete one meditation per day over 8-weeks	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Fitzhugh et al., 2019 ⁴¹	All police employees across five participating forces (Avon and Somerset, Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Hertfordshire, and South Wales) (n=605)	Headspace: Commercially available mindfulness app. User can decide which type and length of session to complete at any time, with no set route for completion of sessions.	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not tested	High

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention o	Level of	
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
	as above (n=204)	Mindfit Cop: A bespoke online 8-week self-paced mindfulness course for policing which offers mindfulness-videos, audios and documents using policing examples	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not tested	as above
Flynn et al., 2020 ⁴²	Carers of people with intellectual disabilities	Be Mindful: Online mindfulness program which involves 10 online pre-recorded audio and video sessions	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
	as above (n not reported)	Be Mindful+: In addition to main online mindfulness program, the second intervention group also had a trained peer mentor for support (3 x30min telephone calls)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		as above
Gammer et al., 2020 ⁴³	Mothers of infants under 1- year old (n=206)	Kindness for Mums Online: Interactive, online compassion-based intervention for new mothers, delivered over 5-to-6 weeks with one weekly 10-15min session	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Kawadler et al., 2020 ⁴⁴	Healthy adults recruited via a recruitment agency who screened positive for stress (n=55)	The BioBase Programme: Participants were monitored for 4 weeks while wearing a wrist-worn BioBeam activity and heart rate monitor and to use the BioBase digital therapy app (e.g. deep breathing exercises, mood tracking, data from monitor) for at least 5 minutes per day and complete at least 14 daily 3-5minute modules sessions.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Kuyken et al., 2013 ⁴⁵	Young people aged 12-16 in 12 secondary schools (n=522)	The Mindfulness In Schools Programme: 9 weekly scripted lessons on mindfulness skills taught by teachers trained in the MiSP	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Moderate
Mahoney-Davies et al., 2017 ⁴⁶	Adults with learning disabilities who attend a council-funded day support service (n=12)	10 weekly 2hr sessions to teach the Five Ways to Well-being (being with people, being active, noticing things around you, keep learning, giving to others)	Not significant		Moderate
Malinowski et al., 2017 ⁴⁷	Older adults (n=50)	Minimum of 10 min/day of meditation at least 5 times/week for 8 weeks and 4 90-min group sessions of psychoeducation, inquiry- based discussion and group mediation practice	Not significant	Not significant	High
McConachie et al., 2014 ⁴⁸	Support staff from care organisations working with individuals with intellectual disabilities who displayed challenging behaviour (n=65)	One day acceptance and mindfulness workshop	Not tested	Not significant	High
Millar et al., 2020 ⁴⁹	In-patients within the psychiatric rehabilitation service (n not reported)	20-30min mindfulness group sessions 3x a week for 5 months or weekly over 18 months, followed by reflection and discussion	Not significant		Moderate
Mitchell & Heads, 2015 ⁵⁰	Adults with a range of chronic psychological issues (e.g. depression, anxiety, pain, PTSD, personality disorder) (n=28)	Living Mindfully Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction Programme: 5 weekly 2.5hr sessions providing training in 4 mindfulness practices	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Montero-Marin et al., 2021 ⁵¹	Secondary school teachers (n=166)	8 sessions of mindfulness training with 20 minutes of a daily home mindfulness practice	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Roulston et al., 2018 ⁵²	Undergraduate social work students (n=30)	Six weekly Mindfulness sessions delivered by an experienced Mindfulness trainer	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention o	Level of	
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Strauss et al., 2021 ⁵³	People with moderate-to- severe depression (n=54)	Clinician supported use (6 weekly sessions) of the mindfulness smartphone app, Headspace, where 30 sessions could be completed within the 60-day follow-up period	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Whitton et al., 2019 ⁵⁴	Patients at a mental health day hospital in Fife, Scotland (n=68)	8-weekly 2-hour mindfulness course delivered by clinician researchers	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Psychoeducation					
Bateman & Fonagy, 2019 ⁵⁵	Families of people with Borderline Personality Disorder (n=56)	Mentalization-Based Treatment Families and Carers Training Support (MBT-FACTS): Five 1-1.5-hour sessions delivered by family members who have been trained to deliver psychoeducation, mentalization and mindfulness-based exercises, and problem-solving skills	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	High
Chiocchi et al., 2019 ⁵⁶	Carers of people with severe and enduring mental illness (n=60)	Up to 20 2-hour psychosocial education sessions for carers	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Kidger et al., 2021 ⁵⁷	Teachers and year 8 students in 25 mainstream secondary schools in South West England and Central South/South East Wales (n=1722)	Well-being in Secondary Education (WISE): Consisted of: i) 2-day standard Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) course for 8% of staff; ii) 1- day MHFA course for teachers in pastoral roles; iii) 1- hour mental health awareness session offered to all staff [WEMWBS assessed in teachers]	Not tested	Not significant	High
	as above (n=2700)	as above [WEMWBS assessed in students]	Not tested	Not significant	as above
McCoy et al.,2019 ⁵⁸	Parents and carers who either had an adverse childhood experience or their child did (n=14)	Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Recovery Toolkit Programme: Trained facilitators, who had attended a two-day training workshop, delivered the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) Toolkit to parents/carers who had experienced ACEs to further their understanding of how ACEs could impact them and their children and used a trauma-based psychoeducation approach so parents could develop their resilience and strategies to reduce the potential impact of ACEs on children	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Mirea et al., 2021 ⁵⁹	Adults presenting with depressive symptoms (n=1105)	Participants completed a comprehensive 635 question web-based mental health assessment over 6 sessions. They then received a results report suggesting likely mood and comorbid disorders as well as tailored psychoeducation about relevant disorders and help sources.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Perry et al., 2018 ⁶⁰	Carers in the Charedi Orthodox Jewish community that came in to contact with mental health in their capacity as a caregiver (n=33)	4 sessions of a culturally tailored psychoeducational group intervention delivered by a Rabbi and psychotherapist focusing on mental health promotion and prevention.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention o	Level of	
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Smallwood et al., 2017 ⁶¹	Caregivers of patients in psychosis services (n=23)	Caregivers of people with psychosis were offered i) telephone support, ii) psychoeducation groups, iii) a needs assessment, and the patient with psychosis was given 1-6 sessions of 0.5-1hr of psychoeducation around psychosis, treatment and management, communication, problem solving and crisis planning	Not significant		Moderate
Spandler et al., 2013 ⁶²	Men with mental health needs (n=102)	It's a Goal: 11-week group-based cognitive behavioural programme that aimed to promote positive mental health using football metaphors (e.g. 11 matches= 11 sessions, players=service users, coaches=mental health workers)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Thompson et al., 2016 ⁶³	Carers of people with hoarding disorder (n=11)	6 weekly 2 hr group psychoeducational sessions facilitated by clinical psychologists	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Therapy (CBT)	1				
Bhutani, 2015 ⁶⁴	Employees of an NHS Mental Health and Community Trust or a Local Authority (n=75)	Looking After Me Looking After You (LAMLAY): 3 3-hour or 4 2- hour weekly group CBT-based sessions	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Bradley et al., 2018 ⁶⁵	Young people at ultra-high risk of psychosis, identified through NHS mental health services (n=11)	SleepWell: 8 weekly sessions delivered by a clinical psychologist, using CBT techniques to improve sleep	Not tested		Moderate
Brown et al., 2019 ⁶⁶	Adolescents attending school in the London boroughs of Lambeth and Southwark who self-referred to attend a workshop to help depression and anxiety (n=155)	DISCOVER' self-referral stress management workshop programme: One day face-to-face CBT workshop delivered by clinical psychologists, followed up with a personalised 20-30 min telephone goal review and up to 2 further goal reviews within 12- weeks	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Carl et al., 2020 ⁶⁷	Adults with a diagnosis of generalised anxiety disorder (n=256)	Daylight: A fully automated personalised digital CBT program available on smartphones. A virtual therapist guides the participant through 4 modules (around 20 mins in length), and were suggested to use the app every day for 6 weeks	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Espie et al., 2019 ⁶⁸	Adults with chronic insomnia (n=1711)	Digital Insomnia therapy to Assist your Life as well as your Sleep (DIALS) study: 6 20min sessions of digital CBT delivered using the Sleepio app over 12 weeks	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Freeman et al., 2015 ⁶⁹	People with psychosis and persecutory delusions (n=150)	6 individual 1hr sessions of CBT aiming to reduce worry	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Freeman et al., 2014 ⁷⁰	People with persistent persecutory delusions (n=30)	6 individual sessions of CBT over 8 weeks, provided by a clinical psychologist	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Hayward et al., 2018 ⁷¹	People with a psychiatric condition and who hear voices (n=91)	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Psychosis (CBTp): 4 1-hr sessions of Coping Strategy Enhancement, a form of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Psychosis, with a clinical psychologist, counselling trainee, mental health nurse or occupational therapist	Not significant		High

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention o	Level of	
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Hazell et al., 2018 ⁷²	Patients with various diagnoses from NHS mental health services who were distressed by hearing voices. (n=28)	Guided self-help cognitive-behaviour Intervention for VoicEs (GiVE): 8 weekly sessions of guided self-help CBT delivered by a clinical psychologist over a maximum of 12 weeks, based on the 'overcoming distressing voices' CBT self-help book.	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Johns et al., 2019 ⁷³	Patients with severe mental illness (n=294)	16 weekly or fortnightly 1hr CBTp therapy sessions over 6-9 months with a senior clinician	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Loucas et al., 2020 ⁷⁴	Adolescents with anxiety and/or depression (n=48)	DISCOVER: A one day group CBT workshop with individualized telephone follow-up	Not tested	Not significant	High
Miller et al., 2021 ⁷⁵	Adults with moderate to severe symptoms of Generalized Anxiety Disorder (n=20)	Daylight: Digital CBT-based programme consisting of 4 10-20 minute modules and optional practice exercises	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Powell et al., 2013 ⁷⁶	Community-dwelling adults; some portfolios targets those with multiple and complex needs, young people, older people and early intervention in pregnancy and first years. (n=3070)	MoodGYM: Internet-based self-help programme teaching 5 modules of cognitive-behavioural skills; participants were encouraged to complete one module a week and sent an email reminder	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Powell et al., 2020 ⁷⁷	People with social anxiety symptoms not currently receiving treatment (n=0)	E-couch: 6 modules of a web-based unguided self-help intervention that used principles of cognitive behavioural therapy to help social anxiety symptoms over a 6-week period.	Not significant		High
Sheaves et al., 2018 ⁷⁸	Patients admitted at acute crisis to a psychiatric hospital (n=40)	Oxford Ward sLeep Solution (OWLS): a 2-week therapy programme consisting of CBT for insomnia, sleep monitoring and light-dark exposure (minimum of 5 sessions)	Not tested	Not significant	High
The Health Foundation, 2014 ⁷⁹	Patients admitted to a single male acute psychiatric inpatient ward (n=40)	Sleep treatment delivered by psychologist over 2-week period consisting of: i) cognitive behavioural techniques for insomnia; ii) sleep watches (Basis Peak) to promote patient discussion about their sleep; and iii) light therapy to stabilise circadian rhythms	Not tested	Not tested	High
Turkington et al., 2018 ⁸⁰	Relatives and friends of people with psychosis (n=77)	2 (standard) or 5 (enhanced) days of a CBT-informed care in psychosis workshops	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Widnall et al., 2020 ⁸¹	Adults with a primary diagnosis of depression or anxiety (n=618)	Improving Access to Psychological Therapy (IAPT): 8-20 sessions of high intensity individual CBT	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Therapy (other)		I	1	1	
Allward et al., 2017 ⁸²	People with mild-to-moderate dementia (n=53)	Cognitive Stimulation Therapy: 10 weekly 90-minute group sessions held at community healthcare clinics, facilitated by assistant psychologists, and includes a range of stimulating discussion, games and tasks	Not significant		High
Bacon et al., 2018 ⁸³	Patients in secondary mental health care services (n=47)	Emotional Resources Group: 6 2.5hr emotion regulation group sessions delivered by a psychologist and a nurse	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Brown et al., 2020 ⁸⁴	Healthcare staff of a Welsh health board (n=124)	Champions for Health: 12-week online self-guided Acceptance and Commitment Therapy intervention (recommended to spend 20 minutes/day, 3 days/week) as well as one of three additional interventions (i) information on behaviour change, ii) 5 premade wellbeing films, and iii) a static social norm message)	Not tested		Moderate
Cheshire et al., 2016 ⁸⁵	Stressed or distressed men who were patients at a London-based GP surgery (n=102)	Atlas Men's Well-being Pilot Programme: Offered counselling (12 weekly 1-hour sessions of integrative/humanistic counselling), acupuncture (6 weekly 30min sessions) or both	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Collins et al., 2012 ⁸⁶	University employees (n=152)	Received 1 to 19 50-min sessions from the University Counselling Service, depending on needs	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not tested	Moderate
Dunn et al., 2019 ⁸⁷	People currently experiencing a major depressive episode (n=11)	Augmented Depression Therapy (ADepT): Initial assessment of 90 mins, 15-weekly 1hr individual ADT sessions with up to 5 booster sessions with a clinical psychologist or an accredited nurse therapist	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Durcan et al., 2018 ⁸⁸	People with history of self- harm in three prisons in North East England (n=87)	Single group session with 2 therapy dogs (activities could include sitting and petting, throwing a ball, etc)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Flaherty-Jones et al., 2016 ⁸⁹	Older adults accessing mental health services (n=35)	Steps to Recovery: 8-weekly 1.5hr group-based therapy sessions, facilitated by two clinical mental health staff.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Grajfoner et al., 2017 ⁹⁰	University students from Heriot-Watt University (n=127)	Therapet: Single 20-minute group session interacting with up to 6 dogs (combined group interacting with dog only and interacting with dog and their handler)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Hartley, 2017 ⁹¹	Local people with psychological distress (n=47)	Social enterprise outreach wellbeing service that provided psychotherapy sessions from trained wellbeing workers or direct participants to local partner organisations	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Hemmings et al., 2021 ⁹²	Adults diagnosed with GAD. (n=10)	Biobase ACT programme: 6 5-minute modules of a digital ACT programme completed within 2 weeks	Not significant		Moderate
Jolley et al., 2020 ⁹³	Services users and/or their carers from community psychosis services (n=42)	4 weekly 2hr group ACTp sessions, with two additional sessions at 10 and 12 weeks	Not tested	Not significant	High
Kevern & Hill, 2017 ⁹⁴	Patients attending primary care centres with mental health needs (n=107)	Chaplains for Wellbeing: Counselling sessions with trained chaplains concerning spiritual wellbeing	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
MacDonald, 2017 ⁹⁵	Patients attending Regent Gardens Medical Practice with mental health needs (n=160)	Primary Care Chaplaincy: Counselling sessions with practice chaplain; session duration (up to 1hr) and frequency determined by patient need	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	Moderate
Majumdar et al., 2019 ⁹⁶	Adult stroke survivors (n=53)	ACTivate Your Life after Stroke: 4 weekly 2hr didactic PowerPoint group ACT sessions	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Northcott et al., 2021 ⁹⁷	Adults at least 6 months post stroke with aphasia (n=32)	SFBT: Up to 6 sessions of individual solution-focused brief therapy sessions over 3 months	Not tested	Not significant	Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Priebe et al., 2015 ⁹⁸	People with psychosis (n=177)	DIALOG+: Monthly use of DIALOG+, a computer-assisted	Not significant	Not significant	High
		intervention, where patients rate their life and treatment			
		satisfaction. Clinicians use scores to provided treatment received			
		solution-focused therapy			
Schrank et al., 2016 ⁹⁹	People with psychosis (n=84)	WELLFOCUS Positive Psychotherapy: 11 weekly 90-minute	Significant (wellbeing	Not significant	High
		sessions of WELLFOCUS Positive Psychotherapy delivered in	increased)		
		groups by trained psychotherapists			
Strauss et al., 2018 ¹⁰⁰	People with obsessive	10 2hr sessions delivered by a clinical psychologist on	Not tested	Not significant	High
	compulsive disorder (n=37)	mindfulness-based exposure and response prevention			

Appendix I2: Description of studies: Social interventions

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Person-centred informa	tion and/or support				
Battrick et al., 2014 ¹⁰¹	Individuals with multiple needs and exclusions (e.g. homelessness, substance misuse, mental health problems and offending) (n=36)	Making Every Adult Matter: Patient engages with coordinator, who ensures the best possible route through existing services (e.g. access to housing, treatment for substance misuse, or mental health assessments)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Beynon et al., 2020 ¹⁰²	Older adults living in Bristol who are likely to be lonely and isolated (n=132)	Community Navigator: Trained 'Community Navigators' work 1:1 on a short-term basis visiting participants in their homes or via phone calls, providing free information and signposting for people experiencing isolation or loneliness, and well as to other services such as financial and safety	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Borschmann et al., 2013 ¹⁰³	Adults with borderline personality disorder (n=49)	A 60min meeting to develop a Joint crisis plan (with key workers/family members), which was then emailed within 24 hours to the participants and key contacts.	Not significant	Not significant	High
British Red Cross, 2019 ¹⁰⁴	Survivors of trafficking for individuals from outside of the EU (n=53)	Sustainable integration and Trafficked human beings through proactive identification and Enhanced Protection (STEP): Multiple organisations delivered complementary models of longer- term person-centred support over a 12-15 month period	Not tested		Moderate
Cheshire et al., 2018 ¹⁰⁵	Social housing tenants in London (n=358)	Two interventions: 1) Individuals received a signposting intervention from the social housing provider which enabled the manager to identify additional needs for the participant. After the initial appointment, contact was made every 3 months for 18 months.	Not tested	Not significant	High
	as above (n=174)	2) a more-intensive intervention, 'handholding', which was delivered by an inhouse team of health and well-being support workers, who conducted baselines assessment and identified further needs of the participants and then helped participants access further services (such as by arranging travel). Participants were visited between weekly and monthly for 18-months	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	as above
Dalkin et al., 2019 ¹⁰⁶	People attending Citizens Advice service including i) those with severe and enduring mental health issues; ii) those referred through their GP; and iii) young adults (n=191)	Intensive advice services delivered by a branch of Citizens Advice in the North East of England over 2-months to 2-years	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Family Mosaic, 2016 ¹⁰⁷	Residents of Family Mosaic, a housing provider in London and the South East. (n=0)	Health Begins at Home: Intervention 1: signposted to health and wellbeing services by their neighbourhood manager;	Not significant	Not significant	High

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
	as above (n=0)	as above: Intervention 2: received intensive personalised support from a dedicated health and wellbeing support worker, including being accompanied to relevant local services.	Not significant		as above
Fisk, 2017 ¹⁰⁸	Ex-seafarers in Merseyside (n=28)	Better Health for Ex-Seafarers: A series of brief interventions (no further information) delivered by a Health Project Advisor to improve participants mental and physical wellbeing and nurture self-management	Not significant		Moderate
Freeman et al., 2016 ¹⁰⁹	People with persistent persecutory delusions (n=10)	Feeling Safe: 6-month Feeling Safe programme consisting of an individual treatment meeting and a personalised 'menu' of weekly 1 hr treatment interventions for the participant to choose from (e.g. improving sleep, improving self-confidence, feeling safer)	Not significant		Moderate
Fullwood, 2018 ¹¹⁰	Older people with multiple long- term conditions who are at the greatest risk of avoidable hospital admissions. (n=932)	Personalised Integrated Care Programme: Coordinated, person- centred community-based approach using primary care-led multidisciplinary teams	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Hill-Dixon et al., 2018 ¹¹¹	Homeless people living in South- West London (n=60)	Homeless Health Link: 1:1 professional and volunteer support to help participants access healthcare services; weekly group sessions to improve health and wellbeing knowledge	Not tested		Moderate
Lloyd-Evans et al., 2020 ¹¹²	Individuals with anxiety or depression using secondary mental health services (n=40)	The Community Navigators Programme: 10 1hr meetings over a 6month period with a Community Navigator who provides lessons/guidance to lonely individuals in terms of exploring their interests more and forming more social relationships with those in their community. Access to 3 group sessions is also given.	Not tested	Not tested	Moderate
Lovell et al., 2018 ¹¹³	Patients with severe mental health problems (n=604)	A shared decision-making intervention consisting of a 2-day course, 6 hours of follow up supervision and 8 hours of optional self-directed learning	Not tested	Not significant	High
Maxwell et al., 2018 ¹¹⁴	Patients with Long Term Health Conditions (n=67)	Patient Centred Assessment Method: Nurses assess patient using the Patient Centred Assessment Method (health and wellbeing; social environment; health literacy and communication; service co-ordination) and can then refer or signpost to other professionals or agencies	Not tested	Not tested	High
Reidy et al., 2013 ¹¹⁵	People with mental health problems (n=9)	Short-term social care interventions delivered by clinicians, local authorities and the third section, targeting individual's mental health problems	Not significant		Moderate
Smith et al., 2012 ¹¹⁶	People with mental health problems (n=25)	Advocacy in Wirral: Peer-led service which provides advice on welfare benefits, as well as advocacy on aspects such as healthcare, drug and alcohol, and hospital care	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Thiel et al., 2013 ¹¹⁷	Patients with mild to moderate health problems and complex social needs (n not reported)	The Sandwell Esteem Team: Holistic co-ordinated care that includes health screening, psychiatric liaison, co-morbidities and medication management, home treatment, ambulatory pathway to home	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Woodhead et al., 2017 ¹¹⁸	Adults accessing co-located welfare advice services in healthcare settings (n=901)	Welfare benefits and debt advice service co-located in healthcare settings	Not tested	Not significant	Moderate
Parenting					
Bjornstad et al., 2021 ¹¹⁹	Primary carers of children with additional needs or disability (n=92)	Healthy Parent Carers: Above (offered as 6 weekly 4-hour sessions or 12 weekly 2-hour sessions)	Not tested	Not significant	High
Borek et al., 2017 ¹²⁰	White, female carers of children with additional needs or disability (n=7)	Healthy Parent Carers: 6 weekly 3-hour sessions delivered by peer facilitators consisting of health promotion education, group activities, discussions and action planning	Not tested		Moderate
Bradley et al., 2020 ¹²¹	Parents living in temporary accommodation with self- identified difficulties related to parenting a child aged 2– 11years. (n=13)	Empowering Parents, Empowering Communities: Peer-led parenting programme consisting of 10 weekly sessions that comprised of facilitator demonstration, role play, visually aided discussions and review of homework tasks.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Connect Centre University of Central Lancashire, 2021 ¹³⁵	Female survivors of domestic violence and abuse (n=35)	Roadmap Programme: SafeLife: Five strands of interventions provided a 'whole family' approach for survivors, children and perpetrators	Not significant		Moderate
Cullen et al., 2013 ¹²²	Parents (no further detail) (n=4231)	Parenting Early Intervention Programme: Interventions that made up the Parenting Early Intervention programme were all delivered to groups of parents, but the courses varied in length from five 2-hour weekly sessions to 17-weekly 2-hour sessions	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport, 2019 ¹²³	Parents of children aged 2-11 who attend local EPEC hubs across England (n=348)	Being a Parent: 8 weekly 2-hr parent-delivered parenting sessions aimed at empowering participants to use positive behaviour management strategies and manage parental stress.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Fisher & Burchett, 2019 ¹²⁴	Single parents in Wales (n=38)	Wellbeing Workshops: 6 weekly or biweekly themed sessions to equip single parents with tools and skills to promote self- care/support mental health and wellbeing, discuss issues that impact mental health and wellbeing and provide a single parents-only social network	Not tested		Moderate
Fisher & Gingell,2016 ¹²⁵	Single parents in Cardiff and Newport, Wales (n=39)	Creating Connections: Programme consisted of: i) 6 weekly 4hr sessions offering skills training in goal setting, action planning and problem solving; ii) ongoing peer support; iii) support in developing individual and community goals; iv) other training and volunteering options	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention o	n wellbeing	Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Gray et al., 2018 ¹²⁶	Parents with concerns about their child(ren)'s behaviour (n=4942)	Participants in the study had received one of 3 parenting programs. 1) Incredible Years was for parents of children aged 8-13 years old and involved 18-22 weekly group sessions of 2- 2.5 hours focused on teaching parents how to manage child's behavioural problems. 2)Triple P was for parents of 0-16 year olds and aimed to increase skills and confidence in handling child's behaviour through positive parenting over 8 2-hour weekly sessions. 3) STOP was an 11-week program for parents of children aged 11-16 aiming to help parents better communicate with their children	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Harwood et al., 2021 ¹²⁷	Parents experiencing difficulties in managing their infant aged 0- 12 months (n=88)	Baby and Us: Peer-led early parenting programme consisting of 8 weekly 2 hr sessions with interactive learning methods to improve parental knowledge	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Hutchings et al., 2017 ¹²⁸	Families with a child aged between 12 and 36 months living in Flying Start areas across Wales (n=89)	The Incredible Years Toddler Parenting Programme.: 12 weekly sessions using social learning theory principles to underpin the basic parent programme	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Institute of Public Care Oxford Brookes University, 2020 ¹³⁶	Parents/carers of children who have been exposed to domestic abuse or violence (n=154)	Opening Closed Doors (Safety, Trust and Respect (STAR) for children; Integrated Women's Support (IWS) for the female parent/carer; the Domestic Abuse Perpetrator Programme (DAPP) for the male parent/carer): Whole family interventions that can be delivered in 1:1 group format. STAR is a 10-week program for children to explore their feelings around domestic abuse, IWS is a 20 -week program for females focused on risk management, safety planning, mental health, self-esteem, parenting and support networks. DAPP is a 20-week behaviour change program using the RESPECT principles to facilitate men ending abusive behaviours towards female partners.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Jones et al., 2016 ¹²⁹	Mothers of infants aged 2-16 weeks (n=80)	The Incredible Years Toddler Parenting Programme.: 8 weekly 2hr sessions aimed to improve parenting skills	Not significant	Not significant	High
Knibbs et al., 2016 ¹³⁰	Carers with a child aged 5-12 in placement (n=59)	Keeping Foster and Kinship Carers Supported: Group training programme (16 weekly 90 min sessions) aiming to improve the skills and confidence of foster and kinship carers	Not significant	Not significant	Moderate
Lindsay. et al., 2011 ¹³¹	Parents of young people aged 8- 13 years demonstrating or at risk of developing behavioural difficulties receiving 1 of 3 interventions via the Parenting Early Intervention Pathfinder (n=237)	Incredible Years: 17 weekly 2hr sessions aiming to enhance effective, positive parenting	Not tested		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
	as above (n=487)	Triple P Positive Parenting Program Level 4: 8 weekly 2hr sessions focusing on parental management of child behaviour and reduction of parental stress.	Not tested		as above
	as above (n=347)	Strengthening Families, Strengthening Communities: 12 weekly 3hr sessions for minority, ethnic groups targeting the development of effective parenting skills.	Not tested		as above
Lindsay & Totsika, 2017 ¹³²	Parents of children aged 0–6 years in three local authorities in England. (n=656)	CANparent Trial: 12 universal parenting programmes aiming to improve parenting skills with varied delivery models (one of: face to face groups, face to face 1:1, blended face-to-face and online learning, only online) and length (range: weekly sessions over 2-10 weeks)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Robertson et al., 2016 ¹³³	Parents or carers of overweight or obese children (n=113)	Families for Health: 10 weekly 2.5hr sessions educating on parenting skills, social and emotional development and healthy eating	Not significant	Not significant	High
Simkiss et al., 2013 ¹³⁴	Parents with children aged 2-4 years living in the catchment area of 'Flying Start' early years centres (n=245)	Family Links Nurturing Programme: 10 week universal parenting skills programme consisting of weekly 2 hr sessions	Not tested	Not significant	High
Community and peer s	upport				
Chakkalackal & Kalathil, 2014 ¹⁴¹	Older adults with dementia living in extra care housing (n=21)	Weekly peer support groups for 6-months, which were led by an experienced facilitator. Each week there was a different focus or activity, such as creative writing and using technology	Not significant		Moderate
Get Set to Go Research Consortium, 2017 ¹⁴³	Adults with mental health problems (n=798)	Get Set to Go Programme (Local delivery): Tailored peer support and 1 to 1 advice delivered by 8 local Minds across four priority regions.	Not tested	Not tested	Moderate
Jones et al., 2021 ¹⁴⁴	Older community-dwelling adults in Bristol (n=865)	Bristol Ageing Better Projects: A city-wide programme with a wide range of initiatives to promote community involvement, participation in social activities and local decision-making, and personal support.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Jones et al., 2015 ¹⁴⁵	Older adults in Plymouth (n=93)	Plymouth SeniorNet: Lessons from volunteers (~12 hours over 8 visits) on how to use the internet either in small groups or at home 1:1 sessions.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Marshall et al., 2020 ¹⁴²	Adults with moderate or mild aphasia caused by stroke (n=46)	Fortnightly 1.5hr social support group intervention sessions aimed to promote wellbeing and communicative success	Not significant	Not significant	High
Mental Health Foundation, 2018 ¹⁴⁰	Older adults living in retirement or extra care housing (n=13)	Standing Together: Weekly session for 6 months that provided peer support via miscellaneous activities aimed to increase participation and aid cognitive stimulation (E.g. film quiz, discussing what to do if having a bad day)	Not significant		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Moreton et al., 2018 ¹⁴⁸	Older adults living in Birmingham who are isolated or at risk of isolation (n=434)	Ageing Better in Birmingham: Asset-based approach that aims to increase active citizenship and reduce isolation; programme elements include: i) self-organising groups of volunteers supporting isolated individuals, ii) Ageing Better hubs; iii) funding for activities; iv) service directory to help individuals find local support and activities; v) local action plans to create longer-term change; vi) supporters scheme for businesses/organisations; vii) experienced expert group who shape programme	Not tested		Moderate
Panayidou et al., 2020 ¹³⁹	PhD students (n=44)	Weekly 90 minute sessions for PhD students aiming to improve wellbeing and confidence in timely PhD completion lasting for eight weeks	Not tested		Moderate
Panayiotou et al., 2020 ¹³⁸	Young people in Years 7-8 that report at least one indicator of an emerging mental health difficulty (a mild or moderate emotional, behavioural, attention, or relationship difficulty) as assessed by school staff or self- nomination. Mentored by young people in Years 9-10 (n=137)	More than Mentors: Cross-age peer mentoring program (1.5 hr weekly session over a 0-12 week period), where an older pupil mentors a younger pupil with group activities, 1 to 1 mentoring working through a standardised toolkit of resources [WEMWBS assessed in mentees]	Not significant	Not tested	Moderate
	Young people in Years 9-10 who attend two-day mentor training (n=120)	as above [WEMWBS assessed in mentors]	Not significant	Not tested	as above
Parsfield et al., 2015 ¹⁴⁷	Community residents (n not reported)	Connected Communities: Programme that works with local people to build projects that support social connections	Not tested		Moderate
Tavistock Relationship, 2019 ¹³⁷	Children affected by their parent's separation and/or conflict (n=58)	1hr weekly sessions for 8-10 weeks consisting of a mutual-aid peer support group that included group work, 1-1 activities and discussions.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
The Health Foundation, 2015 ¹⁴⁶	Individuals with severe Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) in Coventry (n=45)	Respiratory Innovation: Promoting Positive Life Experience: An informal weekly afternoon clinic/education session with social activities such as bingo, quizzes, singing and seated yoga over a 6-month period	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Social prescribing					
British Red Cross, 2019 ¹⁵⁵	Older people who feel loneliness or socially isolated, across the UK (n=338)	Community Connectors programme: Social prescribing service that signposts older people to range of groups and activities in local areas, including provision of emotional and practical support.	Not tested		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Bromely by Bow	People living with and beyond	4 levels of social prescribing support were offered to the	Not significant		Moderate
Centre, 2017 ¹⁴⁹	cancer (n not reported)	participants: i) telephone contact to introduce service and			
		assess needs; ii) signposting and referral to further services; iii)			
		face-to-face 1 hour long assessment in a community setting			
		where participant wellbeing is explored and goals identified,			
		actions agreed upon and referrals or signposting offered; iv) an			
		additional 3 further 1-hour sessions if needed			
Dayson & Leather,	People referred by the GP as	Community Connector finds out what the participant is	Not tested		Moderate
2018 ¹⁵⁰	potentially benefiting from	interested in, identify what services and activities are available			
	additional socially- focused	locally that fit those interests, and help the participants access			
	support (n=206)	them			
Giebel et al., 2021 ¹⁵¹	People living with dementia and	Happy and Healthy: Socially prescribed weekly 60min classes	Significant (wellbeing		Moderate
	family carers (n=25)	involving light physical activity, mindfulness and games, over a	increased)		
		6-month period			
Morton et al., 2015 ¹⁵⁴	Adults with mild to moderate	Consultation with service user and social prescribing of 1-3	Significant (wellbeing		Moderate
	mental health problems (n=136)	sessions of 6 courses (meditation, painting, photography,	increased)		
		jewellery, arts & crafts, pottery)			
Pescheny et al.,	Primary care patients with	Patients were referred by link worker to 12 free sessions of the	Significant (wellbeing		Moderate
2021 ¹⁵²	psychosocial needs referred to	Luton Social Prescribing Scheme which involved physical	increased)		
	social prescribing scheme (n=63)	activities, social activities and creative activities.			
Southmead	Patients attending 6 GP	Community Webs: Project coordinator and link-workers based in	Significant (wellbeing		Moderate
Development Trust et	practices in Bristol (n=93)	GP practices use social prescribing to enable and equip patients	increased)		
al., 2018 ¹⁵³		to access social activities and non-medical support services			
		available in their local community			

Appendix I3: Description of studies: Arts, culture, and environment

Reference	Participants Intervention details	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Art					
Barker & Winship, 2016 ¹⁵⁶	People recovering from substance misuse problems (n=4)	Laughing Matters: Comedy workshops led by a professional comedian over 4 weeks, where participants developed, wrote and performed a stand-up comedy routine	Not significant		Moderate
Clift et al., 2017 ¹⁵⁷	Adults with mental health issues (n=25)	The West Kent and Medway Project: Weekly singing groups in community venues for 6 months	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Crone et al., 2017 ¹⁵⁸	Individuals with a current or previous diagnosis of cancer (n=17)	Flourish programme: 8 weekly art course sessions in a variety of mediums	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Crone et al., 2018 ¹⁵⁹	Individuals with: i) anxiety, depression or stress; ii) low self-esteem, confidence or overall wellbeing; iii) and chronic illness or pain (n=1258)	Art Lift: Weekly art class for 10 weeks taught on a single topic (e.g., poetry, ceramics, drawing, mosaic, painting)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	Moderate
Efstathopoulou & Bungay, 2021 ¹⁶⁰	Adolescents at risk of behavioural or emotional problems in the East of England (n=65)	Arts on Prescription (AoP): 10-weekly 2hr visual art workshops delivered in schools	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Fancourt et al., 2015 ¹⁶¹	Adults with affective disorders accessing mental health services (n=31)	6-weekly 70-minute group drumming sessions	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Fancourt et al., 2016 ¹⁶²	Patients using mental health services (n=45)	10 weekly 90-minute group drumming sessions	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Fancourt et al., 2019 ¹⁶³	Family carers of people with cancer (n=62)	12 weekly 90minute choir sessions	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Glenister, 2017 ¹⁶⁴	Youth in challenging circumstances referred from mental health services, social services or education sources (separate sample to 164) (n=35)	Noise Solution: 10x weekly 2 hr sessions pairing youth with informal music producers for one-to- one project-based tutoring, centred around the use of music technology	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Margrove, 2015 ¹⁶⁵	Students studying at Anglia Ruskin University (n=7)	Open Arts: Weekly 2hr sessions for 12 weeks consisting of a variety of visual arts classes	Not significant		Moderate
Margrove et al., 2013 ¹⁶⁶	Individuals with mental health needs (n=58)	Open Arts: Weekly 2hr sessions for 12 weeks consisting of a variety of visual arts classes	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Moderate
Nevay et al., 2019 ¹⁶⁷	Community-dwelling adult females (n=15)	Crafting connections for wellbeing using e- textiles: Single textile- based workshop to construct 3D interactive birds	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Poerio & Totterdell, 2020 ¹⁶⁸	Older community-dwelling adults (n=94)	Single audiobook listened to via MP3 player over a 4-week period	Not significant	Not significant	High

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Ribbans & Glenister, 2019 ¹⁶⁹	Youth in challenging circumstances referred from mental health services, social services or education sources (separate sample to 169) (n not reported)	Noise Solution: 10x weekly 2 hr sessions pairing youth with informal music producers for one-to- one project-based tutoring, centred around the use of music technology	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Secker et al., 2011 ¹⁷⁰	People at risk of mental ill health and isolation as well as those in recovery from mental health problems. (n=107)	Open Arts: One of 29 introductory arts courses lasting 10-15 weeks and involved using a variety of media	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Sumner & Hughes, 2021 ¹⁷¹	Patients/service users, their families or carers who are experiencing mental health challenges (n=33)	See with Fresh Eyes: 8 in-person half-day sessions on mindful photography techniques; shifted to 4 weekly 2 hr online sessions during the pandemic	Not tested		Moderate
Tribe et al., 2021 ¹⁷²	People with low mood and anxiety (n=55)	Creativity in Mind: Participants were part of a WhatsApp group for 30 days, facilitated by a trained artist, where they took part and shared a daily creative challenge (e.g. draw your mood, create a balance sculpture, etc.)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
van de Venter & Buller, 2014 ¹⁷³	People with mild-to-moderate mental health problems (n=44)	Arts on Referral: 20 week regular art sessions incorporating a variety of arts activities (e.g. painting, textiles, music, photography and film)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Wilson et al., 2017 ¹⁷⁴	Individuals with mental health needs (n=74)	Open Arts: Weekly 2hr sessions for 12 weeks consisting of a variety of visual arts or drama classes or a 6 week percussion course	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Culture			·		
Ecorys, 2017 ¹⁷⁷	Residents of villages and towns in North East England (n not reported)	Bait: Programme of activities aimed at increasing participation in arts and culture. Part of Creative People and Places (CPP) programmes funded by Arts Council England.	Not tested		Low
Heaslip & Darwill, 2018 ¹⁷⁶	Individuals with long-term mental health needs (n not reported)	Human Henge: 10 half day sessions of participant-led activities coupled with experts, carers, support workers, and contributors from a range of cultures who together explored prehistoric landscapes in the Stonehenge and Avebury World Heritage Site	Not tested		Moderate
Khan et al., 2017 ¹⁷⁵	Young African Caribbean men in Birmingham (n=70)	Up My Streets: Three projects: 1) workshops and activities for young men to explore their culture and heritage and lead a local social media campaign to promote resilience, empathy, and aspiration; 2) a homelessness charity organised workshops and visits on Black History, personal development and resilience; 3) a theatre company offered drama workshops	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of		
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence		
Environment							
Beishon et al., 2016 ¹⁷⁸	Community residents, often from deprived backgrounds or with physical/mental health problems, can self-refer or are referred by local health, social care and voluntary sector partners (n not reported)	Green Gym: Ongoing weekly 3-4 hour activity at a local community facility (e.g. park) consisting of a warm-up, cool-down, and gardening and land management activities	Not tested		Moderate		
Chiumento et al., 2018 ¹⁷⁹	Children experiencing behavioural, emotional, and social difficulties (n=31)	A Haven of Green Space: In monthly 2-hour sessions over 6- months, the children designed a green space facilitated by two horticulturists and a Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service psychotherapist	Not significant		Moderate		
Farrier et al., 2019 ¹⁸⁰	Male prisoners in 12 prisons in North East England (n=135)	Greener On the Outside of Prisons (GOOP): Depending on prison type and prisoner category, individuals participated in various horticultural and environmentally focused projects and training courses	Not tested		Low		
Kearns et al., 2020 ¹⁸¹	Adults living in areas undergoing regeneration in Glasgow. (n=1398)	A regeneration programme carried out across 15 communities in Glasgow. Intervention area types included: i) regeneration area; ii) Wider surrounding area; iii) High-rise Housing Improvement Area; iv) Low-rise Housing Improvement Area	Not significant		Moderate		
Maund et al., 2019 ¹⁸²	Individuals diagnosed with anxiety and/or depression (n=18)	The Wetland NBI Design: 6 weekly 2hr sessions engaging participants with nature with different activities each week.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate		
Sumner et al., 2020 ¹⁸³	Outpatients with cardiovascular health conditions currently receiving care (n=19)	Nature on Prescription: 8 week course (~5 hours/week) of a variety of nature-based activities, centring walks and wild outdoors programmes (including practical conservation), incorporating education regarding cardiac health.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate		
Wilson et al., 2011 ¹⁸⁴	Patients referred from secondary or tertiary mental health services in the Greater Glasgow and Clyde area (Scotland) (n=77)	Branching Out: 12-weeks of ~3 hrs of group ecotherapy (e.g. conservation, bushcraft, environmental art, construction, exercise) in outdoor woodland settings.	Not significant		High		

Appendix I4: Description of studies: Physical health promotion

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of		
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence		
Physical activity							
Connolly et al., 2020 ¹⁸⁵	Premenopausal women physically inactive women (n=24)	Participants completed a 12-week physical activity programme, delivered via DVD, where they completed 15-minutes of exercise 3 times a week. The exercise consisted of low-, moderate-, and high-in10sity physical activity.	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	High		
Corepal et al., 2019 ¹⁸⁶	Adolescents from five schools in Belfast, Northern Ireland (n=213)	The StepSmart Challenge: 22-week intervention using gamification strategies (schools participated in a pedometer- based competition to encourage and support physical activity behaviour change)	Not tested	Not tested	High		
France et al., 2016 ¹⁸⁷	Individuals affected by cancer and other long-term health conditions as well as those from specific health inequality groups (e.g. older adults, black and minority ethnic communities, low income). (n=232)	Walking for Health: England-wide network of schemes that delivers free, group-walks that are open to all and 10-90min in duration at least once monthly	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High		
Gray et al., 2020 ¹⁸⁸	Adults living in care homes and supported housing environments (n=70)	Cycling Without Age: Participants go out on specially designed trishaws piloted by trained volunteers, each ride lasted for 40-60 minutes	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High		
Hadley et al., 2020 ¹⁸⁹	Patients with Parkinson's disease and their partners or carers (n=40)	Participants (and some of their carers/partners) completed a single 30-40min dance class specifically designed for people with Parkinson's.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate		
Harris et al., 2018 ¹⁹⁰	Residents of Stranraer, Scotland (no further description) (n=167)	Beat the Street: Over a 6-week period, individuals accrued points and prizes by scanning a card at consecutive electronic boxes (at half-mile intervals) within an hour. This was followed by 7-months of directing participants into suitable physical activity opportunities.	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High		
Henderson et al., 2014 ¹⁹¹	Primarily individuals referred from primary care/mental health providers and voluntary sector organisations (e.g. local Mind groups) (n=96)	Imagine Your Goals: Football-based exercise programme that ran during the 2010-11 season (frequency not stated)	Not significant		High		
Hunter et al., 2018 ¹⁹²	Employees of public sector organisations in Northern Ireland (n=853)	The Physical Activity Loyalty Scheme (PAL): Over a 6-month period, individuals accrued points and prizes by carrying their PAL key fob within 25m of WIFI beacons placed within 2km of their work place.	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High		

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Kay et al., 2022 ¹⁹³	Navy, army and RAF who are either wounded, injured or sick with mental or physical health- related illness (separate sample to 196) (n=759)	Battle Back Multi-Activity Course: 5 day residential course consisting of multi-sport activities and self-management education aimed to encourage and equip individuals to improve their mental and physical health	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Lewis et al., 2017 ¹⁹⁴	Older harder-to-reach men in North West England (n=80)	The Active Rovers: Mixed exercise programmes (e.g. football, yoga, Tai Chi) delivered on a weekly basis at Prenton Park, the home of Tranmere Rovers FC	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Malcolm et al., 2013 ¹⁹⁵	Participants referred by mental health services, social services, local mental health organisations or an educational authority (n=2663)	MIND and Rethink Mental Illness Exercise Project: 28 community- based exercise projects around England; lasting 3-12 months, each project consisted of weekly activities (e.g. gardening and conservation, gym classes, walking)	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Peacock et al., 2019 ¹⁹⁶	Navy, army and RAF who are either wounded, injured or sick with mental or physical health- related illness (separate sample to 193) (n=971)	Battle Back Multi-Activity Course: 5 day residential course consisting of multi-sport activities and self-management education aimed to encourage and equip individuals to improve their mental and physical health	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Tew et al., 2017 ¹⁹⁷	Physically inactive older adults (n=47)	10x 75-minute Yoga sessions over 12-weeks, delivered by trained Yoga teachers	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High
Walker et al., 2021 ¹⁹⁸	People with obesity, type 2 diabetes or pre-diabetes (n=17)	Participants attended a Zoom-delivered, online weight loss and health promotion intervention, delivered in 6x 90-minute sessions over 10-weeks	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Health promotion (diet	or mixed)				
Newbury-Birch et al., 2014 ¹⁹⁹	Year 10 pupils in North East London (n=107)	Participants received a brief alcohol screening intervention, delivered by school learning mentor. Two interventions were tested: 1) Participants received 30-minute brief interactive session involving structured advice about alcohol harms and motivational interviewing	Not tested	Not tested	High
	as above (n=75)	2) included everything delivered in intervention 1 plus a 60-minute session involving family members	Not tested	Not tested	as above
Giles et al., 2019 ²⁰⁰	Year 10 pupils who screened positively on a single alcohol screening question (n=401)	30-minute one-to-one structured brief intervention with a trained learning mentor and an alcohol leaflet.	Not tested	Not significant	Moderate
Johnson et al., 2017 ²⁰¹	Local community-dwelling individuals recruited from media publicity, GP 'referral' and posters (n=481)	One Body One Life: 12 weekly 90-min sessions consisting of 45min of exercise and a 45-min workshop on healthy eating	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
--	---	---	-------------------------------------	---------------------	------------
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Callaghan et al., 2019 ²⁰²	People under community supervision in the criminal justice system (n=120)	STRENGTHEN: Person-centred health trainer support in one-to- one sessions for up to 14 weeks, either in person or via telephone. Health trainers aimed to empower participants to make healthy lifestyle changes (particularly in alcohol use, smoking, diet and physical activity)	Not tested	Not tested	High

Appendix I5: Description of studies: Other

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Funding					
CLES Consulting &	Community-dwelling adults;	Wellbeing Programme and Changing Spaces Programme: Part of	Significant (wellbeing		High
New Economics	some portfolios targets those	17 Big Lottery wellbeing programme funding portfolios of	increased)		
Foundation, 2013 ²⁰³	with multiple and complex	programmes across England that aimed to create healthier			
	needs, young people, older	lifestyles and improve community wellbeing via physical activity,			
	people and early intervention	healthy eating, mental wellbeing			
	in pregnancy and first years.				
0	(n=305)		N		
Scott et al., 2014^{204}	Community-dwelling adults;	Wellbeing 2: Funding to 14 portfolios across England that aimed	Not tested		Moderate
	some portfolios targets those	to create healthier lifestyles and improve community wellbeing via			
	with multiple and complex	physical activity, healthy eating, mental wellbeing			
	needs, young people, older				
	in pregnancy and first years (n				
	not reported)				
Age UK 2013 ²⁰⁵	Older adults (n=71)	Fit as a Fiddle: 2 national projects and 24 regional projects	Significant (wellbeing		Moderate
, .go o, 2010		delivered by over 200 organisations aiming to broaden and	increased)		incaciato
		increase the opportunities for older people to undertake physical			
		activities and improve their eating habits, contributing to an			
		overall improvement in mental health.			
Wigfield et al.,	Older adults living with at least	Fit for the Future: Part of the Fit as a Fiddle Funding portfolio and	Significant (wellbeing		High
2015 ²⁰⁶	one long term health condition	delivered by 11 Age UK partners. Participants are matched with a	increased)		
	(n=840)	volunteer who develops a tailored personal plan and activities to			
		meet their needs.			
Scanlon et al., 2021 ²⁰⁷	Young people attending youth	Youth Investment Fund grants: Youth Investment Fund investment	Significant (wellbeing	Significant (wellbeing	Moderate
	services in six regions across	across 6 regions of England to youth organisations that provide	increased)	increased)	
	England (no individual level	frontline, open access youth services in the targeted communities			
D	description) (n=813)	across England		N	
Day et al., 2020 ²⁰⁰	Up to 100 schools, colleges	Peer Support for Mental Health Pilots: Funding programme	Not significant	Not significant	Moderate
	and Children and Young	delivered by up to 100 schools, colleges and Children and Young			
	People's Community	deliver because a series and the series of t			
	children and young poople as	deriver bespoke peer support interventions			
	the main intervention target				
	(n=322)				
Age UK, 2013 ²⁰⁵ Wigfield et al., 2015 ²⁰⁶ Scanlon et al., 2021 ²⁰⁷ Day et al., 2020 ²⁰⁸	 In pregnancy and first years. (n not reported) Older adults (n=71) Older adults living with at least one long term health condition (n=840) Young people attending youth services in six regions across England (no individual level description) (n=813) Up to 100 schools, colleges and Children and Young People's Community Organisations (CYPCOs) with children and young people as the main intervention target (n=322) 	 Fit as a Fiddle: 2 national projects and 24 regional projects, delivered by over 200 organisations aiming to broaden and increase the opportunities for older people to undertake physical activities and improve their eating habits, contributing to an overall improvement in mental health. Fit for the Future: Part of the Fit as a Fiddle Funding portfolio and delivered by 11 Age UK partners. Participants are matched with a volunteer who develops a tailored personal plan and activities to meet their needs. Youth Investment Fund grants: Youth Investment Fund investment across 6 regions of England to youth organisations that provide frontline, open access youth services in the targeted communities across England Peer Support for Mental Health Pilots: Funding programme delivered by up to 100 schools, colleges and Children and Young People's Community Organisations (CYPCOs) to set up and deliver bespoke peer support interventions 	Significant (wellbeing increased) Significant (wellbeing increased) Significant (wellbeing increased) Not significant	Significant (wellbeing increased) Not significant	Moderate High Moderate Moderate

			Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2019 ²⁰⁹	Parent/carer of a family that is experiencing one of following problems: worklessness, poor school attendance, mental and physical health problems, crime and anti-social behaviour, domestic violence and abuse or children in need of help and protection (n not reported)	Troubled Families Programme: Funding (£920 million) to local authority areas to deliver programmes focused on a high-level theory of change including: i) whole family approach; ii) multi- agencies involved; iii) early intervention; iv) focusing on outcomes and data	Not significant		Moderate
Targeted medical	1				
Acton et al., 2016 ²¹⁰	Individuals with low vision who are eligible for the Sight Cymru visual rehabilitation service (n=67)	1 to 11 home visits to assess needs of individual with low vision, and offer training and support to improve visual function outcomes	Not significant	Not tested	High
Basu et al., 2018 ²¹¹	Parents/carers/therapists of infants with perinatal stroke or unilateral haemorrhagic parenchymal infarction (n=20)	Early Therapy in Perinatal Stroke (eTIPS): Parents were taught to change the environment around the infant (for first 6-months of life) to promote opportunities for active use and stimulation of the potentially affected side of the body	Not significant		Moderate
Elnazer et al., 2021 ²¹²	People with a primary diagnosis of an anxiety disorder (n=27)	Celecoxib augmentation (typically used to treat pain) for 6-weeks alongside current medication	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	Moderate
Evans et al., 2018 ²¹³	Older euthymic adults with and without cardiovascular risk factors and healthy younger adults (n=120)	Transcranial random noise stimulation (tRNS): Participants attended 2 sessions between 2 and 14 days apart where they received transcranial random noise stimulation or sham (control) intervention	Not significant	Not significant	Moderate
Osborn et al., 2018 ²¹⁴	Patients with severe mental illness and raised cholesterol (n=327)	The Primrose Intervention: Weekly or fortnightly appointments to agree goals to lower cardiovascular disease risk (e.g. Improving diet, physical activity, reduced alcohol, quitting smoking, adhering to statins) with a nurse for 6 months	Not tested	Not significant	High
Steel et al., 2020 ²¹⁵	Adults with a clinical diagnosis of schizophrenia and at least a mild level of depression (n=100)	Positive Memory Training (PoMeT): 8-12 individual sessions of positive memory training over a 3-month period	Not significant	Not significant	High
Stuttard et al., 2021 ²¹⁶	Individuals with severe and profound hearing loss who were first time applicants for a hearing dog (n=112)	Hearing Dogs for Deaf People: Participants received a hearing dog earlier than the control group (immediate vs 6-36 months)	Not tested	Significant (wellbeing increased)	High

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Slade et al., 2015 ²¹⁷	Patients with psychosis who were receiving care from a community-based adult mental health team (n=403)	REFOCUS: 1 year behavioural and interpersonal intervention delivered to community mental health teams to change the way they deliver care. Staff participating in intervention were offered 12hr of training in personal recovery, 16hr of training in recovery coaching, 6 externally facilitated team-manger reflection groups, 6 internal team reflections and the use of a reflective practice tool	Not significant	Not significant	High
Webber et al., 2019 ²¹⁸	People with a mental health condition or a learning disability (n=116)	Connecting People Intervention: Participants' healthcare practitioners (e.g. social care workers, nurses, psychologists, occupational therapists, psychiatrists) received a 2-day training course on how to more effectively help participants develop social networks	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Stansfeld et al., 2015 ²¹⁹	Employees and managers of an NHS Mental Health Trust (n=284)	Managing Employee Pressure at Work: An e-learning health promotion programme focusing on the 6 management standards domains (change, control, demands, support, relationship, role) delivered in 6 modules over a 3 month period	Not significant	Not significant	High
Mental health promotio	n (recovery college)		·		
Ebrahim et al., 2018 ²²⁰	Students at a Recovery College aiming to enhance independence in those with mental health problems in Northern England (n=56)	Education-based mental health resources, utilising practitioner and lived experience expertise through courses at a Recovery College	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Mental Health Foundation, 2016 ²²¹	Individuals with complex mental health needs (n=36)	Progression Together: Personalised residential service consisting of three stages over 2.5 year period that progress from intensive phase of recovery and support to independent living	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Harrison et al., 2017 ²²²	Individuals with substance misuse problems (n=10)	Recovery central programmes that supports the development of abstinence-based recovery communities in four areas (Birmingham, Gloucester, London, Durham) Give It Up	Not tested		Moderate
	as above (n=12)	The Hub: as above	Not tested		as above
	as above (n=20)	Progression and Choices: as above	Not tested		as above
	as above (n=11)	Clean & Sober Living: as above	Not tested		as above
Lamb et al., 2021 ²²³	Individual in mental health crises (n=431)	Acute day unit (4 different services across 4 trusts)	Not tested		Moderate
	as above (n=241)	Crisis resource team (4 different services across 4 trusts)	Not tested		as above
Wilson et al., 2019 ²²⁴	Students attending the South East Essex Recovery College (n=25)	South East Essex Recovery College: Uses a psychoeducational/vocational training and social/peer support approach to support people through mental health recovery and support transition from dependency to self-management	Significant (wellbeing increased)		Moderate
Other	I	1	I	I	

Reference	Participants	Intervention details	Effect of intervention on wellbeing		Level of
			Pre- vs. Post	Compared to control	confidence
Collis & Eggers, 2020 ²²⁸	Students in the Faculty of Economics and Business at a large European university (n=122)	9 week period of restricted social media use via a mobile app that blocks Facebook, Instagram and Snapchat after 10minutes of daily use	Not tested	Not significant	High
Connect Centre University of Central Lancashire, 2021 ¹³⁵	Female survivors of domestic violence and abuse (n=77)	Roadmap Programme: VOICES: Framework, training and coaching for frontline domestic and violent abuse practitioners. Compared to normal practices, it provides a new assessment framework, training and planning tools that have a gender-neutral, strengths- based, needs-led, trauma informed approach.	Not significant		Moderate
Elphick et al., 2019 ²²⁶	Parents of children with i) sleep problems and ii) one of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder or Looked After/Adopted children (n=56)	Sleep education and behavioural sleep programme delivered via a 3hr workshop or a 1:1 clinical visit, followed by an individual consultation and development of an individualised sleep programme	Significant (wellbeing increased)		High
Evans et al., 2019 ²²⁹	People with a dementia diagnosis living at home (n=77)	Dementia Dwelling Grant (DDG): Provision of small-scale aids and home adaptations including key locators and clock, touch bedside lights and bath mats	Not significant		Moderate
Gensler & the Helen Hamlyn Centre for Design, 2016 ²²⁷	Employees in a London-based organisation (n=27)	The Participatory Design Project: 3 employee teams were supported to create and test design solutions for their workspaces through a co-design workshop and design installations in their offices.	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not tested	Moderate
Naruse et al., 2019 ²²⁵	Health but stressed couples (n=42)	3 consecutive weekly 1 hour couples massage classes	Significant (wellbeing increased)	Not significant	High